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(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2004 2003 CHANGE

Net sales from continuing operations $ 3,043 $ 2,531 20%
Operating income from continuing operations $ 418 $ 242 73%

Percent of sales from continuing operations 13.7% 9.6% 410bp
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 240 $ 91 164%

Per share from continuing operations $ 2.85 $ 1.07 166%
Net earnings $ 367 $ 108 240%

Per share $ 4.36 $ 1.27 243%
Return on capital employed from continuing operations 15.1% 6.9% 820bp

Dividends per share $ 1.08 $ 1.03 5%

Closing market price per share $ 48.99 $ 37.05 32%
Total return (SHARE PRICE CHANGE PLUS DIVIDENDS) 35% 11%

THE STANLEY WORKS, AN S&P 500 COMPANY, IS A WORLDWIDE
SUPPLIER OF TOOLS, HARDWARE AND SECURITY SOLUTIONS FOR

PROFESSIONAL, INDUSTRIAL AND CONSUMER USE.

ON THE COVER Juliette Blanchard, one of 400 students at Lycee du Bois in the
town of Mouchard in France, utilizes a Stanley® laser leveling tool in the con-
struction of a new field house for athletics. The expansion of its laser leveling
offering into Europe was a key 2004 Stanley success. 

PAGE DE COUVERTURE Juliette Blanchard, une des 400 élèves du Lycée du
Bois de Mouchard en France, utilise un niveau laser Stanley® pour la construc-
tion d’un nouveau complexe sportif. Stanley a connu un succès majeur en 2004
en étendant son offre de niveaux laser en Europe.
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STANLEY:  AT A GLANCE

2003 GAAP RECONCILIATION

Net Earnings from Continuing Operations $ 91
Significant charges and credits 81
Pro forma Net Earnings from Continuing Operations1

(excluding significant charges and credits) $ 172
1 Management believes this supplemental financial measure (2003 Net Earnings from Continuing
Operations excluding restructuring charges and asset impairments, and other exit costs) provides
useful information by removing the effect of variances in reported results that were not indica-
tive of fundamental changes in the company’s earnings capacity. For further discussion, refer to
the Significant Charges and Credits section on pages 36-37 within Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
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From left to right: John G. Breen, Kathryn D. Wriston, Emmanuel A. Kampouris, John F. Lundgren, Stillman B. Brown, Virgis W. Colbert, Eileen S. Kraus

JOHN G. BREEN 1, 2, 4

Retired; former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
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STILLMAN B. BROWN 1, 2, 4
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President and Chief Executive Officer
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
The Stanley Works
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Director of various organizations
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WILLIAM D. HILL
Vice President, Engineering & Technology  
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HUBERT W. DAVIS, JR.
Vice President, CIO  
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JOHN H. GARLOCK, JR.
Vice President & President, Stanley Fastening Systems
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Senior Vice President, Global Operations  
(1999)

JAMES M. LOREE
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
(1999)

JOHN F. LUNDGREN
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
(2004)

MARK J. MATHIEU
Vice President, Human Resources
(1997)
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Senior Vice President and President, Tools Group 
(1999)
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The 162nd year in our company’s history was an active and
successful one…inside our company, in the marketplaces for
our products, as well as with our financial performance. We
indicated in last year’s letter that the company exited 2003
with “the greatest levels of momentum and earnings power in
recent memory.” The momentum continued throughout 2004
and the earnings power was realized.

Responding to a first half that introduced
severe cost inflation in commodity materials
such as steel, resins and oil, we took swift
actions – working closely with our suppliers to
ensure reliable delivery of increasingly scarce
commodities and with our customers to ensure
that the necessary passing-on of such cost
increases occurred. As the Stanley Fulfillment
System (SFS) continued to take hold across
the company, fundamental improvements were
achieved throughout the supply chain. The
results were a high rate of product availability
for our customers which, in turn, supported the
highest level of organic growth achieved in
recent years.

These actions, combined with the inte-
grations of Blick Plc, Frisco Bay Industries, Ltd.,
and CST/Berger, all acquired in 2004, the contin-
uation of a long-awaited economic recovery
throughout the year and solid execution by 14,100

Stanley associates enabled us to deliver excellent
financial results. 

Revenues grew steadily in all quarters,
earnings climbed to record levels, cash flows
remained strong, cash dividends were increased
for the 37th consecutive year and the company
exited 2004 with strong momentum and even
greater earnings power than it entered the
year with. The process of shifting our business
portfolio into market segments with above
average profitability was advanced with integra-
tion of businesses acquired a year ago, several
strategic divestitures and a number of small but
strategic acquisitions announced and/or complet-
ed late in the year.

Wall Street reacted positively. The Stanley
Works’ shares increased 32% in 2004, closing the
year at $48.99. Total return on shareowners’
investment was 35% in 2004, following an 11%
return in 2003.

T O  O U R  S H A R E O W N E R S

162ND MANAGEMENT LETTER TO SHAREOWNERS
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SUMMARY OF 2004 RESULTS: Sales from contin-
uing operations – in other words, excluding the
sales of our divested residential entry doors,
home décor and German paint roller businesses –
were $3.0 billion, up 20% over last year. The
inclusion of Blick Plc, Frisco Bay Industries
and CST/Berger added 9%, supplementing solid
organic sales growth of 11%.

Earnings from continuing operations of
$240 million ($2.85 per fully diluted share)
increased 40% over $172 million earned in the
prior year, excluding nonrecurring charges and
credits recorded in 2003. It is a testament to the
hard work of our associates that we were able
to deliver 40% earnings growth on 20% sales
growth, despite the aforementioned commodity
cost inflation. In 2004, Stanley incurred approx-
imately $75 million of material cost and freight
inflation, the majority of which was steel in
Fastening Systems. Our business units were suc-
cessful in recovering about $44 million of such
costs from customers and, despite the negative
impact of the remaining $31 million on our earn-
ings, we were able to grow earnings at a rate that
approximately doubled our sales growth.

Operating cash flow was a solid $372
million, following $464 million in 2003 and $285
million in 2002. Free cash flow* (operating cash
flow less capital expenditures and capitalized
software) was also strong at $317 million, follow-
ing $425 million in 2003 and $233 million in
2002. With this $975 million of combined free
cash flow in 2002 – 2004, we’ve been able to pay

our cash dividends, finance acquisitions and
maintain our balance sheet at desired levels of
leverage. 

Dividends increased 5% to $1.08 per share
and the dividend rate was increased by 8% to
$1.12 per share. This marked our 128th consecu-
tive year of paying a cash dividend and the 37th
consecutive year it has been raised. We continue
to view the cash dividend as an important element
of total return to shareowners.

Debt-to-capitalization decreased to 32%
from 44% a year ago, despite funding over $300
million for four acquisitions in higher-than-
average-growth markets, while maintaining
single “A” credit ratings. We count our company’s
financial strength and ongoing cash generating
abilities among its most formidable competitive
advantages.

EXPANSION PHASE CONTINUES In 2004, our
two growth platforms – Tools and Security
Solutions – supplemented solid organic growth
with strategic acquisitions. In addition, strength
in the overall economies and markets for our
products and services, excellent merchandising of
our products and the best customer fill rates
Stanley has delivered in recent years all con-
tributed to increased revenues. In 2004 we began
reporting our results in three segments: Consumer
Products, Industrial Tools and Security
Solutions. Each had its own successes in 2004
and each is positioned for profitable growth in
2005 and beyond.

REVENUES GREW STEADILY IN ALL QUARTERS, EARNINGS
CLIMBED TO RECORD LEVELS, CASH FLOWS REMAINED

STRONG, CASH DIVIDENDS WERE INCREASED FOR THE 37TH
CONSECUTIVE YEAR AND THE COMPANY EXITED 2004 WITH

GREATER EARNINGS POWER THAN A YEAR AGO.

*Refer to page 40 of MD&A for the reconciliation of operating cash flow to free cash flow.
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CONSUMER PRODUCTS During 2004 we divested
three business units from this segment: residen-
tial entry doors, home décor and Friess (a
German paint roller producer). These three busi-
nesses were profitable, but at levels below our
corporate average. Additionally, they were not
strategic elements of our portfolio, as they were
too dependent upon a narrow customer base and
not positioned for a profitable future. These
divestitures yielded a number of benefits: first,
$171 million of after-tax proceeds to reinvest
in higher-margin growth businesses; second,
improved overall profitability of the segment by
removing these low-margin businesses; third,
improved growth prospects of the segment; and,
fourth, enhanced the ability of the Consumer
team to focus on the tools, storage and hardware
businesses. With a renewed focus on tools, stor-
age and hardware, we proceeded to deliver a
value proposition that enabled our retail cus-
tomers and us to grow, gain share, increase prof-
its and offer a compelling proposition to end
users. 

Consumer Products sales increased 12%
organically in 2004. The marketing team again
advanced its ability to drive sales at retail
through innovative and attractive presentations
of products. In 2004 we increased focus on the
commercialization of our products at retail and
support of our brand. We reinstituted a program

of television and print advertising, web-based
advertising and public relations campaigns.
The Stanley® brand remains one of our most
valuable assets and its importance is seen by our
retail customers, too. Retail customer support of
our fall 2004 advertising campaign with their own
advertising and in-store promotions verified the
strength of our partnership with them, one that
we solidified with encouraging order fill rates, an
array of new products and a series of in-store
merchandising programs that added up to a
mutually beneficial program. 

While there were many successes in
Consumer Products, there are several new chal-
lenges we will address in 2005. First among these
is our ZAG® consumer storage business, which
encountered a series of petroleum-based resin cost
increases and Israeli port strikes in 2004. Our
customers were faced with both increasing prices
and irregular delivery. We have developed an
internal initiative to improve operations and we
are better positioned to serve customers now that
the port strike issue has been resolved.

The increased demand for our consumer
products led to the doubling of capacity at our
Kannapolis, NC distribution facility and a com-
mitment to add a second facility in Thailand. We
also added a new state-of-the-art saw line at our
facility in Besancon, France. We continue to in-
vest in the Stanley brand and the facilities where
our products are produced to insure the long-term
well-being and profitable growth of our Consumer
Products businesses.

PLATFORM FOR GROWTH:
TOOLS

The Stanley® MaxLife™ 369™ flashlight’s
unique, parallel energy cell technology
enables it to run on 3, 6 or 9 batteries.
This rugged, weather-resistant illumina-
tion tool can generate over 200 hours of
continuous light with six bright LEDs,
making it the ideal emergency light.
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INDUSTRIAL TOOLS Industrial Tools sales grew
18% in 2004, including 12% organic growth and
6% from an acquisition. 

Stanley Fastening Systems exemplified
Stanley’s Industrial performance improvement
during 2004, simultaneously facing the challenges
of steel cost hyper-inflation and the need for
added capacity.

The Fastening System team performed
well, managing increased demand against avail-
able supply. When the year ended, sales had
increased 17% with double-digit percentage
increases in both North America and Europe
(aside from currency benefits) and the Bostitch®

brand was as strong as ever.
Mac Tools had an encouraging year.

Having terminated its direct retail model in 2003
in favor of a renewed commitment to its inde-
pendent distributor base, the team delivered
much needed stability to that distributor base in
2004 and refined its business model to foster
profitability and growth. Mac Tools returned to
profitability and was the largest single contribu-
tor to the company’s earnings growth in 2004.
The cost structure has been right-sized, the dis-
tributor network organized and the business is
ready to grow profitably.

With growth came the need for capacity
additions in several of our industrial businesses.
We responded with the planned expansion of our
fastener capacity in China and added capacity at

our CST/Berger facility in Illinois.
Our smaller industrial businesses –Proto®

Mechanics Tools, Vidmar® Storage, Assembly and
Hydraulic Tools – delivered sales growth, market
share gains and productivity, all contributing to
the improved performance of this segment.

Stanley Security Solutions (SSS) completed
the acquisitions of Blick Plc and Frisco Bay
Industries, Ltd., among the largest access security
integrators in the U.K. and Canada, respectively.
These strategic acquisitions (together approxi-
mately $180 million of annual revenues) provided
SSS with scale, advancement toward global pres-
ence, leading shares in their local markets, speci-
fication capabilities that offer opportunities for
other Stanley®/Best® products and products that
represent opportunities for growth through exist-
ing installed bases. With these two acquisitions,
SSS moved closer to becoming uniquely positioned
to offer customers integrated security solutions,
via direct sales and service forces, globally.

As customer needs become more special-
ized by industry segment, we are building  go-to-
market strategies around specific industry
verticals. Our legacy automatic door business is
particularly strong with retailers, providing us
with a unique view into their changing needs and

PLATFORM FOR GROWTH:
SECURITY SOLUTIONS

MAC TOOLS RETURNED TO PROFITABILITY AND WAS THE LARGEST SINGLE
CONTRIBUTOR TO THE COMPANY’S EARNINGS GROWTH IN 2004.
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related security growth opportunities. Similarly,
Best Access Systems is aligned closely with
healthcare and education customers, as well as
commercial construction. The recently acquired
ISR Solutions and Security Group companies give
us instant strength and credibility in the fast-
growing government channel. Finally, Frisco Bay
Industries provides us with a market position and
insight into the financial institutions channel. As
our business evolves, you can expect to see us
building our position and strengthening our value
proposition within each of these industry vertical
markets, while benefiting from the scale
economies of centrally-managed field operations
with national footprints in several countries.
Successful execution of this strategy will secure a
profitable and growing Security Solutions enter-
prise for years to come.

The Stanley Fulfillment System (SFS) is a contin-
uous operations improvement process committed
to responding to the voice of our customers.
At the core of fulfillment are the key deliverables:
perfect quality, service excellence, optimal cost, and
environmental health & safety (EH&S) improve-
ments. These key deliverables are driven by inno-
vation in the areas of information technology,
business processes, process technologies, people
development and acquisition integration. 

Quality is nonnegotiable and fulfillment
starts and ends with the customer. We are poised

over the next several years to continue to benefit
from Lean and Six Sigma, while our focus on
quality has never been stronger. The application
of SFS principles improved our fill-rates to
customers by over three points globally, facilitat-
ing much of our revenue growth.  

Our customers demand value. In 2004
material price inflation presented new challenges
for our SFS program and we answered that
decisively by deploying SFS’ full array of cost
reduction techniques across the company. Thus,
we partially offset inflation pressure and provid-
ed clear direction on the pricing actions that
had to be taken. This occurred in a year of solid
sales growth with no significant restructuring
activity and as such, SFS continued to be a key
enabler of our shift from restructuring to organic
productivity. 

There is a high correlation between the
safety and cleanliness of a plant and its produc-
tivity. EH&S directly drives customer and share-
holder value by reducing manufacturing down-
time, providing improved waste stream manage-
ment, ensuring our employees are safe in their
work environment and delivering year over year
cost reduction. SFS also provides a robust method
for integrating acquisitions into our businesses.
We leverage our operating principles to derive
increased benefits from synergies. The Stanley
Fulfillment System contributed immensely to our
overall 2004 performance in all of our key focus
areas. In 2005 we expect continued EH&S and
customer service improvements, quality enhance-
ments and further cost reduction initiatives.

THE STANLEY FULFILLMENT
SYSTEM

2004 STANLEY FULFILLMENT SYSTEM HIGHLIGHTS

QUALITY OVER 300 KAIZEN EVENTS WERE HELD GLOBALLY WITH FOCUS ON ELIMINATING WASTE
WITHIN THE COMPANY’S SUPPLY CHAIN PROCESSES.

SERVICE UTILIZING OUR MABO FACILITY IN BESANCON, FRANCE AS AN INCUBATOR FOR PRODUCTION
AND SALES PLANNING IMPROVEMENTS LED TO 5 POINTS OF FILL RATE IMPROVEMENT FOR EUROPE.

COST 2004 PRODUCTIVITY INITIATIVES WERE INSTRUMENTAL IN OFFSETTING MATERIAL COST INFLATION.

EH&S A 22% IMPROVEMENT IN LOST TIME INCIDENTS WAS ACHIEVED IN 2004.

™
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The winning value proposition – innovative
branded customer solutions at competitive costs,
supported by creative advertising and merchan-
dising materials, delivered with superb service
levels – is proving to be attractive to customers
and end users everywhere. 

Our company remains poised for further
growth. Our cost structure is competitive and
we continue to deliver product innovation on a
regular basis. We are rapidly advancing our
commercialization capabilities; our factories
have improved their safety and environmental
performance; and our cash generation supports
future acquisition growth. Our team has demon-
strated its ability to reinvest that cash wisely
and to integrate acquired businesses quickly.

Our portfolio of businesses has been

advanced considerably toward favored markets
while reducing our overall dependence on a
limited number of large customers. Two solid
strategic platforms for growth – Tools and
Security Solutions – are in place. A stronger
portfolio combined with strong execution by
our associates led us to a record 2004 and re-
presents the path to continued success in 2005
and beyond.

The Stanley® brand, world-class factories,
a reliable and efficient distribution network,
a strong array of customers serving diverse
markets, financial strength and 14,100 engaged
associates are the elements that will enable
disciplined, profitable growth while maintaining
the flexibility to respond to unanticipated changes
in market conditions.

Our momentum is solid and we plan to
capitalize upon it. We look forward to a successful
2005 and a bright future.

OUTLOOK:  SUSTAINING
GROWTH

John F. Lundgren
Chairman & CEO

James M. Loree
Executive Vice President & CFO
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SWK 2004

*ROCE IS COMPUTED AS NET EARNINGS PLUS AFTER-TAX INTEREST EXPENSE, DIVIDED BY THE 13-POINT AVERAGE OF DEBT AND EQUITY.
**2004, 2003 AND 2002 WORKING CAPITAL TURNS ARE COMPUTED USING ANNUALIZED SALES OF ACQUIRED COMPANIES.

***FREE CASH FLOW = CASH FROM OPERATIONS – CAPITAL EXPENDITURES – CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE.
REFER TO MD&A ON PAGE 40 FOR THE RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING CASH FLOW TO FREE CASH FLOW. 

2 0 0 4  S C O R E C A R D

STANLEY’S PORTFOLIO TRANSITION HAS ALREADY YIELDED AN INCREASE
IN ITS SECURITY SOLUTIONS BUSINESS FROM 6% TO 22% OF SALES

SWK SALES 2002
$2.6 BILLIONA

SWK SALES 2004
$3.0 BILLION

SECURITY

22%
CONSUMER

+
INDUSTRIAL

78%

SECURITY

6%
CONSUMER

+
INDUSTRIAL

94%

A INCLUDES RESIDENTIAL ENTRY DOOR, HOME DÉCOR AND GERMAN PAINT ROLLER BUSINESSES DIVESTED IN 2004.
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STANLEY® POWERLOCK® TAPE RULE

INNOVATION CONTINUES to fuel growth. The vitality index (sales
of new products introduced in the past three years) rose from
10% in 1996 to 21% in 2003 and 22% in 2004. Among 2004’s
successful new introductions was a new line of black chrome
mechanics tools, a comprehensive mechanics tools/tool storage
program, a new series of FatMax® long tapes and a complete
line of demolition tools.

CONSUMER PRODUCTS SALES GREW 12% organically in 2004 and
this is certainly in part the result of the commitment to sup-
porting our brand. This must and will continue into 2005 and
beyond. One example of our commitment is our recent return
to NASCAR via a sponsorship program with Evernham
Motorsports. This new multi-faceted marketing program will
help build the Stanley® brand across the broad, diversified
motorsports audience. The Stanley® logo will be carried on the
Nos. 9 and 19 Dodge Dealers/UAW Dodges in an associate
sponsorship position throughout the season. In addition,
Stanley will be the primary sponsor on the No. 91 Dodge of Bill
Elliott for four NASCAR NEXTEL Cup Series races in 2005.

THE EUROPEAN TEAM performed well in 2004. The resulting
14% sales increase which included the benefits of currency
exchange was based on a simple formula – innovative new
products, outstanding merchandising and reliable customer
fill rate levels. The efforts and successes of our associates in
Europe are notable and our customers are responding with
increased reliance on Stanley in this increasingly important
market.

CONSUMER PRODUCTS
H I G H L I G H T S

NO. 91 STANLEY TOOLS
DODGE CHARGER

MAXSTEEL™ PLIERS
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STANLEY® ROTATOR RATCHET

STANLEY® DEMOLITION TOOLS

STANLEY® LEVERLOCK® TAPE RULE
CLIP STRIP MERCHANDISER

STANLEY® DECORATIVE BRACKETS
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FATMAX® PRODUCT DISPLAY HEADER CARD

FATMAX® SAWHORSE WITH TELESCOPIC
METAL LEGSFATMAX® PRODUCT ADVERTISING
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FATMAX® HIGH TENSION HACKSAW

FATMAX® LONG TAPE

FATMAX® WRECKING BAR

FATMAX® PRODUCT MERCHANDISING DISPLAYS STANLEY MARKETING A revved up Stanley marketing
program continues to drive sales of Stanley® products.
Combining television and print advertising, innovative
packaging, bold merchandising, and exciting new promo-
tions and racing programs, the message of this aggressive
campaign scored hundreds of millions of impressions with
Stanley customers in 2004.
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STANLEY RACING Stanley has returned to the world of
racing! In partnership with Evernham Motorsports, Stanley
is sponsoring three cars that are competing in the NASCAR
NEXTEL Cup Series, including No. 91 Stanley Tools Dodge
Charger, driven by the legendary Bill Elliott. This sponsorship
puts the Stanley® brand in front of 75 million racing fans that
have proven to be loyal supporters of NASCAR and the
brands that support it as well.
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EUROPEAN RETAIL Professional levels, saws and tape rules
produced in company facilities including one in Mabo, France
are sold through European retailers. Descours & Cabaud (whose
Maringue Sagetat store is shown below) provided Stanley an
opportunity to supply innovative hand tools, toolboxes and laser
tools, aimed at professional end users in the industrial channel
in France.
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Students at LYCEE DU BOIS in France use
Stanley® tools on their worksites, enabling
them to develop appreciation for quality
tools at a young age. These future profes-
sional woodworkers learn the skills of their
trade through actual building work in their
community. The school is dedicated to train-
ing young woodworkers and has formed a
partnership with Stanley for the use of tools
and tool storage products and promotion of
the Stanley® brand.
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MABO At Stanley’s hand tool manufacturing plant
in Besancon, France, company associates oversee
production of Stanley® Jet-Cut® hand saws on a
new robotic manufacturing line installed in 2004.
With a considerable portion of its business in
Europe and much of that in France, Stanley Tools is
committed to providing the most modern equip-
ment to ensure a safe work environment and the
highest quality product for its European customers.
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FASTENING SYSTEMS (“BOSTITCH®”) introduced the new triple-
galvanized nail, unique in its ability to resist corrosion when
used with new pressure-treated lumber chemicals, and experi-
enced a tripling of demand versus the predecessor nail. The
team worked well with available capacity, balancing customer
demands across several distribution channels, while taking the
necessary steps to ensure longer-term increases in capacity for
production of this important new product.

PROTO® industrial mechanics tools and VIDMAR® industrial stor-
age grew sales 15% and 12%, respectively, and each con-
tributed significantly to the company’s profit improvements in
2004. These businesses benefited from strong markets for
products and management teams that drove performance
improvement programs in manufacturing, distribution, engi-
neering and marketing. Customer fill rates were at the highest
levels ever. The transfer of Proto’s distribution from its own
facility to the company’s Kannapolis, NC consumer tools dis-
tribution center was completed in the fourth quarter without
the slightest interruption of customer service.

THE ACQUISITION OF CST/BERGER brought Stanley to the
forefront of precision leveling products to supplement its
world-leading offering of tape rules and levels. The company is
uniquely positioned to offer a full array of leveling products
to professionals. The Industrial Tools team quickly seized new
growth opportunity, adding a Stanley®-branded laser leveling
line to the well-established CST® and David White® product
lines within North America and Europe. The offering was
extremely well accepted in all geographies and the sales rate of
this business grew 30% by year-end. 

ASSEMBLY TECHNOLOGIES grew 11% with strength in both
North America and Europe. The combination of Stanley® DC
electric and pneumatic fastening tools and Cobotics™ intelli-
gent assist devices for ergonomic material handling provide an
attractive value proposition to the vehicle assembly markets
worldwide. Important sales near the end of the year to Renault
and Peugeot in France solidified an already strong year for
Assembly Technologies. 

SPECIALTY TOOLS grew 7% organically, providing high customer
service levels and innovative sales growth platforms.

INDUSTRIAL TOOLS
H I G H L I G H T S

MSD SABER SERIES™ SHEAR
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MAC TOOLS worked with HSBC to introduce the new
Mac Card™, providing distributors a viable financing alter-
native for end users, while operations contributed solid
positive cash flow for the second consecutive year. The
distributor network is now able to focus its efforts on sales
and serving its customers while HSBC, the issuer bank,
attends to the Mac Card™ credit and collection matters.

HYDRAULIC TOOLS capitalized on scrap steel price inflation
and the resulting booming market conditions with the timely
introduction of a new line of Stanley® and LaBounty® shears.
As demand accelerated, the Hydraulics team managed levels
of incoming orders it had not seen in recent years, as well as
its own steel needs, and grew its sales by an impressive 38%.
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At its Salem, Virginia facility, TIMBER TRUSS HOUSING
SYSTEMS, Inc. utilizes a highly automated process to
manufacture floor and roof trusses, wall panels and joists
for use in residential housing and commercial construction
projects. Needing maximum efficiency, productivity and
reliable production, the facility employs Bostitch® fastening
tools and fasteners. Each year Stanley’s Bostitch division
supplies over 180 billion fasteners and the tools that drive
them to the construction, industrial manufacturing and resi-
dential homebuilding markets in North America and Europe.
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STANLEY’S INDUSTRIAL TOOLS GROUP includes the ASSEMBLY TECHNOLOGIES
TEAM which provides solutions to meet the critical fastening and material handling
needs of the global assembly market, including passenger automobiles, heavy trucks,
and all-terrain vehicles. Core solutions utilizing the high-performance Stanley® QPM™ DC
electric tightening tools and Cobotics™ intelligent assist devices enable manufacturers
to realize increased efficiencies and greater safety with their production operations.
Stanley’s Proto® industrial mechanics tools and tool storage units are often the choice
for hand tool needs in these heavy-duty production environments.
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NASCAR TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, the exclusive education-
al partner of NASCAR, is the country's first technical training
school to combine a complete automotive technology pro-
gram and a NASCAR-specific motor sports program. At the
Institute’s technical center in Mooresville, North Carolina,
high-performance racing cars are readied for competition.
The Institute uses Stanley® Vidmar® tool storage systems to
protect and secure the tools and instruments critical to these
processes. Stanley’s Mac Tools® are the mechanics tools of
choice for work performed in this facility.
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Our national account teams succeeded in delivering the
full array of products and services to national and global
customers that included Cisco Systems, Wal*Mart Stores,
Valero Energy Corporation and HSBC, as well as to regional
customers such as Robert Wood Johnson University Hospital.
The pages which follow detail the total solutions benefits that
these customers realized and that resulted in SSS being
awarded the access security work at the renovated Chicago
O’Hare Airport, the new airport in Bangkok, Thailand and the
Shenzhen City Council facility in China. 

SSS SURPASSED $675 MILLION IN 2004 SALES and achieved higher
than average sales growth and operating margins, while deliv-
ering returns on capital employed above established company
targets and contributing significantly to free cash flow. 

The team made considerable progress in advancing its Security
growth strategy, having built a powerful direct channel to the
customer that offers a unique value proposition based on
service and national breadth. Selling both its own propriety
products and those of others through this channel where
appropriate, SSS enables customers to benefit from flexibility
to customize specific solutions to meet their needs, while
SSS benefits from producing only those products where it has
some inherent advantage, such as in automatic doors or inter-
changeable locks.

SECURITY SOLUTIONS
H I G H L I G H T S
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THE TOTAL SECURITY SOLUTION FOR BOOTS Boots, which provides
primarily health and beauty products to consumers in 130 countries and has
1,500 retail outlets in the U.K. alone, installed a Stanley Security Solutions™

system at its location in Calcot on the edge of Reading in England. The fully-
integrated security system was uniquely designed to meet Boots’ security
needs and employs Stanley’s own proprietary PAC® SecureNet™ software as
the integration platform to unite access control, intruder alarms, electronic
article surveillance, CCTV and public address systems. Capabilities of the
customized security system include remote monitoring and alarm manage-
ment. Boots’ flagship store on London’s Oxford Street will soon employ a
similar SSS system and the future looks bright for an expanding
relationship with this important customer.

Like Stanley Access Technologies and Best Access Systems, Blick Plc and Frisco
Bay Industries, Ltd. have the only direct national sales and service networks
among their competitors. Successful integrations of these two recently acquired
companies enabled the business to serve customers effectively and efficiently
across the various geographies and, at the same time, lifted the profitability of
Blick and Frisco Bay to levels consistent with our expectations. They both grew
revenues over levels they achieved before being acquired and, on a pro forma
basis including them, overall SSS revenues were 11% above prior year levels. 
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HELPING TO KEEP CISCO SECURE The Stanley Security Solutions™ team
provides custom uniform solutions to access security needs. Here, a SSS
associate works closely with Bill Jacobs, Cisco Systems’ Sr. Manager of
Security, Technology & Systems, in the Security Operations Center within
Cisco’s 50-building headquarters campus in San Jose, California. With a fully
integrated access and digital video security system, access to remote and
local Cisco facilities are monitored and controlled centrally. 

Mr. Jacobs, commenting on the Cisco-Stanley efforts, stated: “Since 2002,
Cisco and Stanley Security Solutions have worked together to build a
Strategic Business Partnership Program which supports all systems program
management, project management, installation and service needs for our
200+ offices in the Americas. This relationship has matured and grown
stronger through the years, based on open communications, trust and suc-
cessful delivery of services, as measured by quarterly performance metrics.
We’re encouraged that Stanley Security is on an acquisition and growth path
for success and that Cisco can be partnered with them. We also hope to one
day have a global support program through one strategic business provider.”
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One of the top U.S. refining companies, VALERO ENERGY
CORPORATION relies on Stanley Security Solutions™ for
access security control at its 15-refinery network in North
America and Aruba, including the Benicia, California refinery
pictured here. Valero has long been recognized throughout
the industry as a leader in the production of premium,
environmentally clean products. In considering its security
vendor options, Valero chose Stanley for its unique ability to
integrate and service all of its access security system
components, mechanical and electronic alike, with a direct,
national service team.
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Blick UK’s ADEPT Evacuation Manager system was chosen
by HSBC for its headquarters in Canary Wharf to meet the
most rigorous safety standards and ensure any emergency
evacuation is as safe and efficient as possible. The ADEPT
two-way communication solution provides the facility man-
ager with real-time access to critical information, allowing
him to evaluate the severity of an incident and, if necessary,
prepare and coordinate a staged, phased or simultaneous
evacuation. Mobile communication portables enable key per-
sonnel to receive and transmit time-critical messages up to
150 times faster than other conventional messaging systems,
providing the rapid two-way communication that is so critical
to evacuation procedures.
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ACCESS SECURITY FOR HEALTH CARE Robert Wood Johnson
University Hospital in New Brunswick, NJ, one of the nation’s
leading academic health centers, relies on Stanley Security
Solutions™ for standardization of mechanical and electronic
access and video controls across its 15-building children’s
hospital and university campus. Stanley’s total solutions team
services the hospital’s automatic doors, locks and integrated
access security system, including the protection of such areas
as their Neonatal Intensive Care Unit.
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(Millions of Dollars, except per share amounts) 2004C 2003C 2002C 2001 2000

Continuing Operations
Net sales $ 3,043 $ 2,531 $ 2,234 $ 2,233 $ 2,371
Earnings $ 240 $ 91 $ 157 $ 137 $ 172
Earnings per share

Basic $ 2.93 $ 1.08 $ 1.82 $ 1.59 $ 1.97
Diluted $ 2.85 $ 1.07 $ 1.78 $ 1.56 $ 1.97

Percent of Net Sales:
Cost of sales 63.4% 66.1% 66.5% 63.5% 62.7%
Selling, general and administrativeA 22.8% 24.3% 22.6% 23.8% 24.5%
Interest-net 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.2% 1.1%
Other-net 1.5% 1.6% (0.4)% (0.6)% 0.8%
Earnings before income taxes 10.8% 4.8% 10.2% 9.1% 11.0%
Earnings 7.9% 3.6% 7.0% 6.1% 7.3%

Other Key Information
Total assets $ 2,851 $ 2,424 $ 2,418 $ 2,056 $ 1,885
Long-term debtB $ 482 $ 514 $ 563 $ 197 $ 249
Shareowners’ equity $ 1,221 $ 869 $ 994 $ 843 $ 747

Ratios:
Current ratio 1.7 1.6 1.8 1.4 1.5
Total debt to total capital 32.4% 43.6% 41.7% 37.0% 38.0%
Income tax rate 27.0% 25.9% 30.8% 32.7% 33.8%
Return on average equityB 23.0% 9.8% 17.1% 18.6% 26.2%

Common Stock Data:
Dividends per share $ 1.08 $ 1.03 $ 0.99 $ 0.94 $ 0.90
Equity per share at year-end $ 14.82 $ 10.69 $ 11.45 $ 9.96 $ 8.77
Market price-high $ 49.33 $ 37.87 $ 52.00 $ 46.85 $ 31.88
Market price-low $ 36.42 $ 21.00 $ 27.31 $ 28.06 $ 18.44

Average shares outstanding (in thousands)
Basic 82,058 84,143 86,453 85,761 87,407
Diluted 84,244 84,839 88,246 87,467 87,668

Other Information:
Earnings from

continuing operations $ 240 $ 91 $ 157 $ 137 $ 172
Earnings from

discontinued operations $ 127 $ 17 $ 28 $ 21 $ 18

Net earnings $ 367 $ 108 $ 185 $ 158 $ 194
Net earnings per share

Basic $ 4.47 $ 1.28 $ 2.14 $ 1.85 $ 2.22
Diluted $ 4.36 $ 1.27 $ 2.10 $ 1.81 $ 2.22

Average number of employees 13,625 12,505 12,262 13,168 14,774
Shareowners of record at

end of year 13,238 13,915 14,053 15,290 16,014
A Inclusive of provision for doubtful accounts.
B Continuing Operations.
C Refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis on page 35 for matters affecting the comparability of results.

SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The financial and business analysis below provides information which the
Company believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of its
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. This
financial and business analysis should be read in conjunction with the con-
solidated financial statements and related notes. 

The following discussion and certain other sections of this Report contain
statements reflecting the Company's views about its future performance and
constitute “forward-looking statements” under the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are based
on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the
industry and markets in which the Company operates and management's
beliefs and assumptions. Any statements contained herein (including without
limitation statements to the effect that The Stanley Works or its management
“believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “plans” and similar expressions) that
are not statements of historical fact should be considered forward-looking
statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and
involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to pre-
dict. There are a number of important factors that could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking
statements. These factors include, without limitation, those set forth below
under the heading “Cautionary Statements.” The Company does not intend
to update publicly any forward-looking statements whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise. 

B U S I N E S S  O V E RV I E W  

The Company has continued to focus on a profitable growth strategy and to
alter its portfolio of businesses. This strategy encompasses acquisitions and
the reduction of risk associated with certain large customer concentrations.
The Company believes this strategy will improve the overall profitability of
operations over the long term. Over the next several years the Company
anticipates more acquisitions will be made, particularly in the Industrial
Tools and Security Solutions segments. The following events/matters
(including acquisitions and divestitures related to this strategy) had a signif-
icant impact on the Company’s financial performance in 2004 and 2003:

> In 2004, the acquisitions of Blick plc, CST/Berger, Frisco Bay Industries
Ltd., ISR Solutions Inc., and one small security business were completed
at the total cost of $322 million. Blick is a leading U.K. integrator of secu-
rity systems, communication and time management solutions for the
commercial and industrial sectors. CST/Berger is a designer and manu-
facturer of laser and optical leveling and measuring equipment. Frisco
Bay is a leading Canadian provider of security systems and equipment
for financial institutions, government agencies and major corporations.
ISR is a North American electronic security integrator providing the U.S.
federal government and commercial customers with access security
systems design, installation and maintenance services.

> The Company sold its Home Décor business during the fourth quarter of
2004 for $87 million, and, therefore, this business was reported as a
discontinued operation for all periods. The after-tax gain recorded on
this transaction was $24 million. The Home Décor business contributed
$0.13, $0.07, and $0.15 of diluted earnings per share in 2004, 2003, and
2002, respectively. Additionally, a small German business with annual
sales of approximately $20 million, which manufactures primarily
European private label paint rollers, was included in discontinued oper-
ations. The EPS impact of this business to the Company prior to divestiture
was nominal. 

> The Company experienced an unfavorable impact from unusually high
levels of commodity price inflation (particularly steel) in 2004 and actively
pursued price increases across its channels. These price increase efforts
gradually gained acceptance throughout the year with the Company’s
customers. The effect of commodity inflation, and freight cost increases,
was $75 million in 2004, of which approximately 60% was offset with
related price increases to customers. Steel costs and other inflation
impacts, partially offset by price increases, will continue to have a
substantial impact on the Company in 2005 and potentially beyond. The
Company estimates the carryover impact in 2005 of this inflation at
$40-45 million, of which approximately 80-85% will be offset with the
aforementioned price increase carryover impact. These 2005 estimates
assume no change in existing commodity price levels or the related cus-
tomer price levels.

> The Company acquired several businesses, primarily Best Access which
was completed in November 2002, which had a significant favorable
impact on the Company’s 2003 performance. The total cost of these
acquisitions was $340 million.

> The Company entered into a definitive agreement during December 2003
to sell its Residential Entry Door business and, therefore, this business
was reported as a discontinued operation for all periods. The $161 million
sale was completed in the first quarter of 2004 and the after-tax gain
recorded was $95 million. The Residential Entry Door business contributed
$0.13 and $0.17 of diluted earnings per share in 2003, and 2002, respec-
tively. The impact in 2004 aside from the gain on the sale was nominal.

> The Company announced restructuring plans in April 2003 to improve the
profitability of certain struggling businesses (“Operation 15”). The
restructuring was completed in 2003 and included a workforce reduction
of over 1,000 people, the exit from the Mac Tools retail channel
(“MacDirect”), and the impairment of certain fixed assets and inventories
related primarily to the future consolidation of two distribution facilities. 
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> The Company recognized $8 million in charges related to compensation
payable to the former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, John M.
Trani, pertaining to his retirement effective December 31, 2003. These
retirement costs were comprised of severance and pension as specified
in an employment contract entered into in 2000. 

In 2004, the Company implemented a change to its segment reporting in
response to the divestiture and acquisition activity which arose from the
aforementioned strategy. The Company's operations are now classified into
three business segments: Consumer Products, Industrial Tools, and Security
Solutions. The Consumer Products segment manufactures and markets hand
tools, consumer mechanics tools and storage units, and hardware. These
products are sold to customers and distributed directly to retailers (including
home centers, mass merchants, hardware stores, and retail lumber yards).
The Industrial Tools segment manufactures and markets professional
mechanics tools and storage systems, pneumatic tools and fasteners,
assembly tool systems and specialty tools, hydraulic tools and electronic
leveling tools. These products are sold to customers and distributed either
directly or through third party distributors. The Security Solutions segment
manufactures and markets automatic doors, door locking systems, commer-
cial hardware and security access control systems, primarily through various
direct sales forces.

During 2004 and 2003, the strengthening of the Euro and other foreign 
currencies had a significant favorable impact on the translation of foreign
currency-denominated operating results into U.S. dollars. It is estimated that
the favorable impact of foreign currency translation, including acquired com-
panies, contributed $0.12 and $0.13 of continuing operations diluted earnings
per share in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar may have a significant impact on
future earnings. 

R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R AT I O N S

The Company has provided below a summary of its operating results at the con-
solidated level, followed by an overview of its business segment performance.  

NET SALES Net sales from continuing operations were $3,043 million in
2004, as compared to $2,531 million in 2003, a 20% increase. Excluding 2004
acquisitions, organic sales increased 11% driven by 6% volume growth,
improved pricing and favorable foreign currency impact. The volume growth
is due to: increased industrial tool demand from favorable market conditions;
improved order fulfillment and execution in several businesses; strong
consumer hand and mechanics tool demand from home center and mass
merchant customers; and increased Security revenues primarily due to share
gains in automated door products. The 2004 net sales volume performance
was significant considering the Company had a 52-week 2004 reporting peri-
od versus a 53-week reporting period last year. Favorable foreign currency

translation, primarily European, increased net sales by 2%. The impact of
pricing resulted in a net sales increase of 3%, mainly as a result of the
Company actively pursuing price increases to offset commodity inflation.
Other pricing actions associated with more effective price management rou-
tines resulted in an additional $20-$25 million of benefit.

Net sales from continuing operations were $2,531 million for 2003, as com-
pared to $2,234 million in 2002, a 13% increase. Acquisitions contributed
$266 million, or a 12% increase of net sales. Overall, organic sales volume
declined 2%, offset by favorable foreign currency translation of 3% due pri-
marily to the movement in European currencies. Organic sales volume
declined mainly due to the termination of the MacDirect program under the
Operation 15 initiative combined with customer inventory corrections in the
industrial and consumer channels in the first half of 2003. These sales
declines were partially offset by strong fourth quarter 2003 demand in U.S.
hand and mechanics tools, and expanding service operations and share
gains at national accounts in the automated doors operation. 

SIGNIFICANT CHARGES AND CREDITS  In 2004, the Company
recorded $4 million of pre-tax restructuring costs in connection with specific
personnel actions to streamline/reposition certain organizations, $4 million
of impairment charges primarily associated with a 2004 information system
strategy decision, and a $2 million provision for recent litigation.
Additionally, an $8 million credit to income taxes was recorded as a result of
favorable resolutions of tax audits, increased utilization of foreign net oper-
ating loss carry forwards and specific acquisition tax-planning activities.

In 2003, the Company recorded $108 million of pre-tax restructuring costs,
impairment charges, and other exit costs in connection with the Operation
15 initiative. Certain expenses totaling $8 million related to the retirement
of the Company’s former Chairman and CEO were recorded in addition to
Operation 15 charges. In the first quarter of 2003, the Company recorded $3
million in restructuring reserves for initiatives pertaining to the further
reduction of its cost structure, primarily for severance-related obligations. A
summary of the pre-tax charges recorded in 2003 related to these matters is
as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 

Operation 15
MacDirect exit

Inventory losses $ 7
Receivable losses 25
Other 21

Distribution Facilities 13
Other 42

Total Operation 15 $ 108
Other severance 3
CEO retirement 8

Total $ 119
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These charges were classified within the 2003 Consolidated Statement of
Operations as follows: (i) Cost of sales — $20 million; (ii) SG&A and
Provision for doubtful accounts — $37 million; (iii) Other-net — $10 million;
and (iv) Restructuring and asset impairment charges — $52 million.
Additionally, the 2003 income taxes reflect favorable foreign tax develop-
ments that resulted in a credit of $2 million.

In 2002, the Company reported a second quarter U.S. pension settlement
pre-tax gain of $18 million. Also in the second quarter, the Company incurred
$8 million in severance and related expenses associated with selling, gen-
eral and administrative cost reductions. In the third quarter, the Company
reported a $6 million credit to income taxes related to a favorable foreign tax
development. In the fourth quarter, the Company recorded $22 million in non-
cash charges for increased inventory and receivable loss provisions and for
specific manufacturing equipment impairments related to the following: (1)
a reassessment of Mac Tools inventory and accounts receivable valuations,
as a result of a then new retail control system; (2) an inventory valuation
adjustment in Fastening Systems associated with cost estimation process
improvements; and (3) impairment of certain fixed assets related primarily to
the Wichita Falls and Dallas, Texas plants consolidation. Also in the fourth
quarter the Company recorded $5.6 million of accounting corrections. These
corrections relate primarily to expense capitalization and depreciation. Other
significant credits in 2002 include $11 million in environmental income arising
from a settlement with an insurance carrier recognized in the third and
fourth quarters. These credits and charges were classified within the 2002
Consolidated Statement of Operations as follows: (i) Net sales — $1 million
charge; (ii) Cost of sales — $17 million charge; (iii) SG&A expenses — $10
million charge; (iv) Other-net — $21 million credit; and (v) Income taxes —
$6 million credit.

GROSS PROFIT The Company reported gross profit from continuing oper-
ations of $1,112 million, or 36% of net sales, in 2004, compared to $858
million, or 34% of net sales, in the prior year. The businesses acquired
increased gross profit by $105 million. The remaining $149 million improvement
was primarily attributed to increased sales volume discussed previously,
gross profit rate improvement, and $20 million of inventory losses recorded
in 2003 related to the termination of the MacDirect distribution model and
the planned consolidation of two major distribution facilities in conjunction
with Operation 15. The gross profit rate improvement was attributable to
the carryover benefit of 2003 restructuring programs, volume leverage,
favorable pricing and improved product mix. These benefits were partially
offset by higher steel costs and other inflation. The Company experienced
a significant impact from unusually high levels of commodity price inflation
(particularly steel) in 2004. The Company has actively pursued price increases
in many business channels to partially offset this negative impact. The effect
of commodity inflation and freight increases was $75 million in 2004, of
which approximately 60% was offset with related price increases to cus-
tomers. Steel cost and other inflation increases, partially offset by price
increases, will continue to have a substantial impact on the Company in
2005 and potentially beyond.

The Company reported gross profit from continuing operations of $858 mil-
lion, or 34% of net sales, in 2003, compared to $748 million, or 33% of net
sales, in 2002. Excluding the $128 million favorable impact of acquisitions,
gross profit declined slightly as compared with 2002 primarily due to organic
sales volume declines discussed previously, $20 million of inventory losses
recorded in conjunction with Operation 15, and higher retirement plan costs.
These negatives were partially offset by favorable material and other 
efficiency variances.

SG&A EXPENSES Selling, general and administrative expenses from
continuing operations, inclusive of the provision for doubtful accounts, were
$694 million, or 23% of net sales in 2004, compared to $616 million, or 24%
of net sales, in the prior year. The increase of $78 million was primarily
attributed to acquired businesses that increased costs by $62 million, higher
business portfolio SG&A spending levels in connection with the strong
organic net sales increase, increased funding for brand support, Sarbanes-
Oxley compliance costs, and foreign currency translation. Additional factors
impacting this comparison were accounts receivable losses of $25 million
which related to the exiting of the MacDirect distribution model and $8 million
of costs pertaining to the retirement of the Company's former CEO which
were both recorded in 2003.

Selling, general and administrative expenses from continuing operations,
inclusive of the provision for doubtful accounts, were $616 million, or 24%
of net sales in 2003, compared to $505 million, or 23% of net sales, in the
prior year. The increase relates to $70 million of incremental expenses from
acquisitions, $25 million of receivable losses associated with the MacDirect
exit, $8 million of costs related to the retirement of the Company’s former
CEO, higher retirement plan costs, and the negative impact from foreign
currency translation.

INTEREST AND OTHER-NET Net interest expense from continuing
operations in 2004 was $34 million, an increase of $6 million over 2003. The
2003 net interest expense from continuing operations represents a $4 million
increase from the $24 million in 2002. The three year trend of increases was
driven by higher borrowings due to the acquisitions discussed previously,
partially offset by lower interest rates. 

Other-net from continuing operations represented $47 million of expense in
2004, an increase of nearly $8 million from expense of $39 million in 2003.
The increase is primarily the result of increased intangible amortization
expense of $10 million associated with recent acquisitions. Additionally,
there was a significant cost increase and decrease which offset one another
— a $10 million increase in currency losses from 2003 levels was offset by
reduced losses on the MacAdvantage finance program in 2004 versus 2003.  
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Other-net from continuing operations was $39 million in expense for 2003
compared to $9 million in income for 2002. The increase in costs is primarily
the result of an $18 million gain in 2002 from the U.S. pension settlement,
$12 million of higher losses in 2003 related to the Company’s MacAdvantage
financing program, a $6 million loss on the sale of the Mac Tools distributor
receivable portfolio (an Operation 15 initiative) in 2003, increased intangible
amortization expense of $10 million in 2003 associated with acquisitions, and
$11 million in income from an environmental settlement with an insurance
carrier in 2002, which was slightly offset by a $2 million increase in other
environmental expense. 

INCOME TAXES The Company’s effective income tax rate from continu-
ing operations for 2004 was 27% as compared to 26% for 2003 and 31%
for 2002. 

The tax rate for the past two years reflects the continued benefit of a higher
percentage of taxable income in countries with lower statutory rates, primarily
in Europe and the Far East. Additionally, an $8 million credit  to income taxes
was recorded in 2004 as a result of favorable resolutions of tax audits,
increased utilization of foreign net operating loss carry forwards and specific
acquisition tax-planning activities. The 2003 effective income tax rate was
affected further by the tax benefit from the Operation 15 charges which
were predominately U.S. based. Additionally, the 2003 and 2002 income
taxes reflect favorable foreign tax developments that reduced income taxes
by $2 million and $6 million, respectively. The 2002 favorable development
was offset by the impact of non-deductible excise tax associated with the
termination of a defined benefit pension plan.

BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS  The Company utilizes operating profit,
which is defined as net sales minus cost of sales and SG&A, inclusive of the
provision for doubtful accounts, and its percentage of net sales as measure-
ments to evaluate the profitability of each segment. Segment operating
profit excludes interest income, interest expense, other-net, restructuring
charges and asset impairments, as well as income tax expense.

CONSUMER PRODUCTS
(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales from 
continuing operations $ 1,073 $ 958 $ 911

Operating profit from
continuing operations $ 175 $ 149 $ 130

% of Net sales 16.3% 15.6% 14.3%

Consumer Products net sales from continuing operations in 2004 represented
a 12% increase from 2003, driven by the aforementioned strength in home
center and mass merchant channels in the U.S. and favorable currency
impacts in Europe. Of this 12% increase, volume represented 7% which was
driven by growth in hand tools, consumer mechanics tools and storage units
as a result of improved order fulfillment, increased brand support, and higher
market demand, which was partially offset by volume declines in hardware
products. Currency represented 4% and pricing 1% of the net sales increase.

Operating margin improved 70 basis points primarily due to improved
operating leverage from higher sales volumes, pricing and favorable product
mix; however these factors were partially offset by the previously mentioned
commodity cost inflation (primarily steel and resin), increased brand support
and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance costs. Additionally, 2003 consumer products
operating profit was impacted by $3 million in Operation 15 charges previ-
ously mentioned. 

Consumer Products net sales from continuing operations in 2003 increased
5% as compared to 2002. The sales increased primarily from favorable for-
eign currency translation due mainly to European currencies. The volume
increased slightly as a result of strong fourth quarter 2003 demand in the
U.S. Hand Tools business which was offset partially by consumer channel
customers inventory corrections in the first half of 2003. Consumer products
operating profit was impacted by the charges previously mentioned totaling
$3 million in 2003 and $6 million in 2002. The remaining $16 million increase
in operating profit is primarily due to improved shift in business mix and
favorable material and productivity variances, partially offset by higher
retirement plan costs and further price erosion in 2003 versus 2002.

INDUSTRIAL TOOLS
(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 1,292 $ 1,098 $ 1,111
Operating profit $ 132 $ 17 $ 69
% of Net sales 10.2% 1.5% 6.2%

Industrial Tools net sales increased 18% from 2003. Excluding the
CST/Berger acquisition, organic sales increased 12%. Volume represented
6% of the organic sales increase; and price and currency were 4% and 2%,
respectively. This organic volume improvement was the result of better eco-
nomic conditions, improved management execution in several businesses
and improved order fulfillment related to industrial mechanic tool, assembly
tool, specialty tool, and hydraulic tool products. Mac Tools net sales
decreased 4% as sluggish market conditions impacted this business in the
fourth quarter of 2004 combined with traditional distributor additions and
higher route average sales only partially offsetting the anticipated decline
from last year's MacDirect exit. The majority of the price increase was due
to the Company’s actions in response to commodity inflation as previously
discussed. The significant improvement in the 2004 operating profit and
margin rate is the result of charges in 2003 totaling $52 million mainly from
receivable and inventory losses associated with the MacDirect exit, as well as
higher sales volume, substantial improvement in the margin performances
of Mac Tools and industrial mechanics tools as a result of the carryover
benefits from prior year restructuring programs, and the acquisition of
CST/Berger. These favorable factors were partially offset by the previously
mentioned commodity cost inflation, as approximately two-thirds of the total
company’s commodity inflation (net of price recovery) impacted this seg-
ment, and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance costs.
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Industrial Tools net sales in 2003 decreased 1% as compared to 2002. The
sales volume decreased as a result of declining sales from the termination
of the MacDirect program under the Operation 15 initiative and industrial
channel customers inventory corrections in the first half of 2003, offset par-
tially by strong fourth quarter 2003 demand in the U.S. mechanics tools
business and favorable foreign currency translation due primarily to the
European currencies. Industrial Tools operating profit was impacted by the
charges previously mentioned totaling $52 million in 2003 and $21 million in
2002. The remaining $21 million decrease in 2003 operating profit is primarily
due to significant price erosion and lack of manufacturing productivity
(primarily in the fastening business), unfavorable shifts in business mix, and
higher retirement plan costs.

SECURITY SOLUTIONS
(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 678 $ 474 $ 212
Operating profit $ 111 $ 76 $ 43
% of Net sales 16.3% 16.0% 20.3%

Security Solutions sales increased 43% in 2004. Excluding the acquisitions
(primarily Blick plc, Frisco Bay Industries Ltd., and ISR Solutions Inc.), organic
sales increased 6%. Sales volume represented 4% of the organic increase
and price was 2%. The organic volume improvement was due to strength in
the supply and service of automatic commercial door systems in access tech-
nologies. Best Access sales volume was virtually unchanged compared to
2003 levels while incoming orders increased, reflecting a shift in mix toward
longer order cycle electronic access systems. The operating profit increase is
primarily attributed to the impact of 2004 acquisitions. Operating margin was
relatively flat versus 2003, primarily attributable to favorable business mix
and pricing actions with customers;  these favorable impacts were offset by
increased commodity inflation, field productivity issues at Best Access,
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance costs and key strategic consulting expenditures. 

Security Solutions sales increased by $262 million in 2003. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions (primarily Best Access) totaling $255 million, Security
Solutions organic sales increased 3% and volume generated the majority
of this increase. The organic volume improvement was due to strength in
the supply and service of automatic commercial door systems in access
technologies, partially offset by market share declines in the commercial
hardware product line. Operating profit increased significantly primarily as a
result of acquisitions. 

R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A C T I V I T I E S   

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recorded $8 million of restruc-
turing and asset impairment charges — $4 million of restructuring costs in
connection with specific personnel actions to streamline/reposition certain
organizations primarily in the consumer and industrial segments; and $4
million of asset  impairment charges primarily associated with a 2004
information system strategy decision. 

In 2003, the Company recorded $49 million in restructuring and asset impair-
ment charges for the Operation 15 initiative. These charges consisted of $12
million for severance, $26 million of asset impairments and $11 million of
other exit costs related to the exit from the Company’s MacDirect retail
channel. The asset impairments generally relate to assets which are idle
mainly as a result of restructuring initiatives and accordingly their book value
has been written down to fair value. 

In 2003, the Company also recorded $3 million in restructuring charges for
initiatives pertaining to the further reduction of its cost structure, primarily for
severance-related obligations. As of January 3, 2004, no accrual remained as
all of the severance had been expended.

At January 1, 2005, the restructuring and asset impairment reserve balance
was $5 million, which the Company expects to be fully expended by the end
of 2005. A summary of the Company’s restructuring reserves for the years
ended January 3, 2004 to January 1, 2005 is as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2003 Charges Usage 2004

Q4 2004
Severance $ – $ 4 $ (3) $ 1
Asset Impairments – 4 (4) –

Operation 15
Severance 3 – (1) 2
Asset Impairments 9 – (7) 2
Other 3 – (3) –

Pre 2003
Other 1 – (1) –

$ 16 $ 8 $ (19) $ 5

For the three years ended January 1, 2005, 21 facilities have been closed
as a result of restructuring initiatives. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, approxi-
mately 160, 1,100 and 1,000 employees have been terminated as a result
of restructuring initiatives, respectively. Severance payments of $4 million,
$18 million and $26 million and other exit costs of $4 million, $10 million
and $4 million were made in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Write-offs
of impaired assets were $11 million, $18 million and $6 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Integration of certain acquisitions requires reduction of redundant person-
nel, closure of facilities, and other restructuring actions related to the
acquired businesses. In such cases, a restructuring accrual is recorded for
actions identified in integration strategy plans initially developed by the
Company as of the acquisition date, with a resulting increase to goodwill. As
integration strategies are executed, the Company monitors the previously
established restructuring accruals and makes adjustments to such accruals
to the extent actual expenditures differ from the estimated accruals.
Adjustments recorded to previously established restructuring accruals until
the time integration plans are fully executed, not to exceed one year from
date of original acquisition, are reflected in the final goodwill amount includ-
ed in the purchase price allocation. Adjustments made subsequent to the
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finalization of integration strategies, or after one year from the date of
original acquisition, are reflected in the Company’s results of operations. The
Company recorded $5 million in restructuring reserves, primarily for sever-
ance, in connection with its first quarter 2004 acquisitions. Restructuring
reserves pertaining to the 2002 Best acquisition were $6 million, comprised
of $5 million for severance and $1 million in exit costs primarily for non-
cancelable leases. All but $0.3 million of these acquisition related reserves
were expended by January 1, 2005. 

F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N

LIQUIDITY, SOURCES AND USES OF CAPITAL The Company’s pri-
mary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and borrowings
under various credit facilities. 

The Company has historically generated strong cash flows from operations.
In 2004, cash flow from operations was $372 million, as compared to $464
million in 2003. Working capital improvements were $45 million higher in
2003 as compared with 2004. In addition, in 2003 there were favorable
impacts of $57 million for income tax deferrals and refunds, as well as
approximately $40 million in cash proceeds from the sale of the Mac Tools
distributor financing portfolio which did not reoccur in 2004. These items
were partially offset by improved net earnings from continuing operations
and lower cash payments related to restructuring and other charges in 2004
versus 2003. 

In 2003, cash flow from operations was $464 million, as compared to $285
million in 2002. The increase is the result of working capital improvements
of $32 million as compared to 2002 improvements, primarily from receiv-
ables and inventories, cash proceeds of approximately $40 million from the
sale of the Mac Tools distributor financing portfolio, income tax payment
deferrals and refunds aggregating $57 million, and $17 million in lower cash
payments related to restructuring and other charges in 2003 versus 2002. 

Capital expenditures were $55 million in 2004, $39 million in 2003, and $52
million in 2002. The Company incurred higher capital expenditures in 2004
for investment in various plants including manufacturing productivity pro-
jects, movement of production to low cost countries, and increased costs for
software development and acquisitions as the Company continues to
improve the infrastructure of its systems. 

Free cash flow, as defined in the following table, was $317 million in 2004 and
$425 million in 2003, considerably exceeding net earnings from continuing
operations in a period of continued strong sales volume growth. The Company
believes free cash flow is an important measure of its liquidity, as well as its
ability to fund future growth and provide a return to the shareowners.

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net cash provided 
by operating activities $ 372 $ 464 $ 285

Less: capital expenditures (48) (31) (37)
Less: capitalized software (7) (8) (15)

Free cash flow $ 317 $ 425 $ 233

The Company received net proceeds from sales of the Residential Entry Door
and Home Décor businesses of $205 million in 2004, and disbursed $301
million for business acquisitions. Additionally, as a result of the previously
mentioned strong free cash flow from operations, the Company made $133
million in net payments on borrowings resulting in a 2004 year end 32.4%
debt to capital ratio. This ratio was 43.6% at the end of 2003. The Company
believes it has achieved its deleveraging goals and is well-positioned for
capitalizing on future acquisition opportunities.

During 2003, the Company made $260 million in payments on borrowings. In
the second quarter 2003, the Company repurchased 3.9 million shares of
common stock and agreed to settle the remainder of its equity hedge
through the repurchase of 4.1 million shares over the next four years. The 3.9
million share repurchase was made with $100 million of cash and increased
commercial paper borrowings while the 4.1 million share repurchase
involved $113 million of term debt. No open market purchase of shares
occurred. These repurchases of shares under the equity hedge contract,
repayment of debt and currency fluctuation, resulted in a $20 million
decrease in the Company’s short-term and long-term borrowings. 

In 2002, the Company received $338 million in net proceeds from issuance
of long-term debt, and disbursed $356 million for business acquisitions. The
Company made $154 million in payments on borrowings.

In 2004, the Company took advantage of favorable market conditions by
refinancing its 364 day and long-term (multi-year) credit arrangements, cre-
ating a long-term credit facility with several U.S. banks to borrow up to $400
million at the lower of prime or money market rates. This long-term credit
facility matures in October 2009. In addition, the Company has short-term
lines of credit with numerous foreign banks aggregating $161 million, of
which $120 million was available at January 1, 2005. Short-term arrange-
ments are reviewed annually for renewal. Of the $561 million aggregate
credit lines, $400 million is available to support the Company’s commercial
paper program. In addition to these lines of credit, the Company maintains a
facility designed for the securitization of certain trade accounts receivable
for purposes of additional liquidity. As of January 1, 2005, the Company’s
maximum available funds under this arrangement were $122 million, of
which $12 million was utilized.

In 2003, the Company filed a Shelf Registration in the amount of $900 million.
This filing represents a prospectus which, if accompanied by a prospectus
supplement, would allow the Company to offer, issue and sell, together or
separately, debt, equity and other securities.
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M A R K E T  R I S K   

Market risk is the potential economic loss that may result from adverse
changes in the fair value of financial instruments. The Company is exposed to
market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates. Exposure to foreign currency risk results because the Company, through
its global businesses, enters into transactions and makes investments
denominated in multiple currencies. The Company’s predominant exposures
are in European, Canadian and Asian currencies, including the Chinese RMB.
Certain cross-currency trade flows arising from sales and procurement activ-
ities are consolidated and netted prior to obtaining risk protection, primarily
purchased options. The Company is thus able to capitalize on its global posi-
tioning by taking advantage of naturally offsetting exposures to reduce the
cost of purchasing protection. At times, the Company also enters into forward
exchange contracts and purchased options to reduce the earnings and cash
flow impact of non-functional currency denominated receivables and
payables, predominately affiliate transactions. Gains and losses from these
hedging instruments offset the gains or losses on the underlying net exposures,
assets and liabilities being hedged. Management determines the nature and
extent of currency hedging activities, and in certain cases, may elect to allow
certain currency exposures to remain unhedged. The Company has also
entered into several cross-currency interest rate swaps, to provide a partial
hedge of the net investments in certain subsidiaries and better match the
cash flows of operations to debt service requirements. Sensitivity to foreign
currency exposure risk from these financial instruments at the end of 2004
would have been immaterial based on the potential loss in fair value from a
hypothetical 10% adverse movement in all currencies. The Company gener-
ally does not hedge commodity price exposures.

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk results from its outstanding
debt obligations, short-term investments, and derivative financial instru-
ments employed in the management of its debt portfolio. The debt portfolio
is managed to achieve capital structure targets and reduce the overall cost
of borrowing by using a combination of fixed and floating rate debt as well
as interest rate swaps, and cross-currency swaps. The Company’s primary
exposure to interest rate risk comes from its floating rate debt in the U.S.
and Europe and is fairly represented by changes in LIBOR rates. At January
1, 2005, the result of a hypothetical two percentage point increase in short-
term LIBOR rates would not have resulted in a material impact on the pre-tax
profit of the Company. 

Fluctuations in the fair value of the Company’s common stock affect ESOP
expense as discussed in the U.S. Pension and ESOP section of Management
Discussion and Analysis.

The Company also has numerous assets, predominantly vehicles and
equipment, under a one-year term renewable U.S. master personal prop-
erty lease. Residual value obligations, which approximate the fair value of
the related assets, under this master lease were $24 million at January 1,
2005. The Company does not anticipate any material liabilities associated
with these transactions.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS The following summarizes the
Company’s significant contractual obligations and commitments that impact
its liquidity.

Payments Due by Period

(Millions of Dollars) Total < 1 year 2-3 yrs 4-5 yrs > 5 yrs

Long-term debt $ 537 $  55 $ 270 $   7 $ 205

Operating leases 97 22 32 18 25

Deferred compensation 34 3 8 6 17

Material purchase 
commitments 54 9 18 18 9

Outsourcing and  
other obligations 34 15 16 3 –

Total contractual 
cash obligations $ 756 $  104 $ 344 $  52 $ 256

OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

Amounts of Commitments Expiration Per Period

(Millions of Dollars) Total < 1 year 2-3 yrs 4-5 yrs > 5 yrs

U.S. lines of credit $ 400 $ – $ – $ 400 $ –

International lines of credit 161 161 – – –

Total commercial 
commitments $ 561 $ 161 $ – $ 400  $ –

Short-term borrowings, long-term debt and lines of credit are explained in
detail within Note I Long Term Debt and Financing Arrangements; and oper-
ating leases and other commercial commitments are explained in detail in
Note R Commitments and Guarantees of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Company believes that its dividend is an important factor in generating
returns for the shareowners. The Company’s long term policy is to increase
dividends by up to one-half of the Company’s earnings growth rate, ultimately
reaching a payout ratio of 25% of net earnings. Dividend increases are
determined periodically in light of this policy and other considerations.
Dividends increased 4.9% in 2004, 4.0% in 2003 and 5.3% in 2002. The
Company plans to use a significant portion of free cash flow after dividends
(operating cash flow less dividends and capital expenditures) to fund future
acquisitions in commercial and industrial markets.
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Sales to The Home Depot amounted to 12% of 2004 consolidated net sales
from continuing operations. The Company has other significant customers,
particularly home centers and major retailers, though individually there are
no others that exceed 10% of consolidated sales. The loss or material reduc-
tion of business from any such significant customer could have a material
adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows, until
either such customers were replaced or the Company made the necessary
adjustments to compensate for the loss of business.

The Company has access to financial resources and borrowing capabilities
around the world. There are no material instruments within the debt struc-
ture that would accelerate payment requirements due to a change in credit
rating, and no significantly restrictive covenants. The Company believes that
its strong financial position, operating cash flows and borrowing capacity
provide the financial flexibility necessary to continue its record of annual
dividend payments, to invest in the routine needs of its businesses, to make
strategic acquisitions and to fund other initiatives encompassed by its
growth strategy. 

O T H E R  M AT T E R S

INCOME TAXES In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
(the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act creates a temporary incentive for
U.S. corporations to repatriate undistributed foreign earnings by providing an
85 percent dividends received deduction. As of January 1, 2005, the
Company has not provided for U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes on
$324 million of undistributed foreign earnings that are considered to be
invested indefinitely outside the United States. The Company may elect to
repatriate some amount up to $324 million resulting in recognition of a tax
liability of up to $42 million. The Company is awaiting the issuance of fur-
ther regulatory guidance and statutory corrections with respect to certain
provisions in the Act in order to determine the amounts it may repatriate,
and expects to be in a position to finalize its assessment during 2005. 

ENVIRONMENTAL The Company incurs costs related to environmental
issues as a result of various laws and regulations governing current operations
as well as the remediation of previously contaminated sites. Future laws and
regulations are expected to be increasingly stringent and will likely increase
the Company’s expenditures related to routine environmental matters. 

The Company accrues for anticipated costs associated with investigatory and
remediation efforts in accordance with appropriate accounting guidelines
which address probability and the ability to reasonably estimate future costs.
The liabilities are reassessed whenever circumstances become better
defined or remediation efforts and their costs can be better estimated.
Subject to the imprecision in estimating future environmental costs, the
Company believes that any sum it may pay in connection with environmental
matters in excess of the amounts recorded will not have a materially adverse
effect on its financial position, results of operations or liquidity. Refer to Note
S Contingencies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information on environmental liabilities and related cash flows.

U.S. PENSION AND ESOP In 2002, the Company recorded an $18 million
pre-tax pension settlement gain in Other-net. This involved the termination
and settlement of the primary U.S. salaried employee plan as well as settle-
ment of most of the liabilities in the ongoing plan for hourly employees. In
addition to the settlement gain, the Company recorded $8 million of operat-
ing income related to these plans in 2002, whereas in 2003 and 2004 the
ongoing hourly plan resulted in approximately $2 million of expense.

As detailed in Note M Employee Benefit Plans of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has an Employee Stock
Ownership Plan (ESOP) under which the ongoing U.S. defined contribution
and (401K) plans are funded. Overall ESOP expense is affected by the market
value of Stanley stock on the monthly dates when shares are released. In
2004, the market value of shares released averaged $43.20 per share and
the net ESOP expense was $2 million. In 2003, the market value of shares
released averaged $29.30 per share and the net ESOP expense was $9 million.
ESOP expense may vary in the future as the market value of the Company’s
common stock fluctuates.

The Company provides a 5% guaranteed rate of return on participant contri-
butions made to the tax deferred savings plan (401K) prior to July 1998 when
all contributions were invested in Stanley common stock. The value of the
shares participants purchased prior to July 1998 along with the 5% cumula-
tive guaranteed rate of return on Stanley common stock is known as an
Investment Protection Account (IPA). Beginning in July 1998 the investment
options for plan participant contributions were enhanced to include a variety
of investment funds in addition to the Company’s common stock, and there
is no guaranteed rate of return to participants on any contributions made
after that time. The IPA guarantee is included in the actuarial valuation of
the ongoing U.S. pension plan. Payments related to the IPA guarantees, if
they have any value, would be made to participants over a period of many
years generally as they retire. In the event the market value of Stanley
common stock declines below $43.59 (which is the stock price at which
there was a settlement of this liability) additional costs may be triggered by
the IPA benefit guarantee.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  Refer to Note A Significant
Accounting Policies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
a discussion of new accounting pronouncements and the potential impact to
the Company’s consolidated results of operations and financial position.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES  Preparation of the Company’s
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses. Significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements are described in Note A Significant
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Accounting Policies thereto. Management believes the most complex and
sensitive judgments, because of their significance to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, result primarily from the need to make estimates
about the effects of matters with inherent uncertainty. The most significant
areas involving management estimates are described below. Actual results
in these areas could differ from management’s estimates.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS Stanley’s estimate for its
allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables is based on two
methods. The amounts calculated from each of these methods are combined
to determine the total amount reserved. First, the Company evaluates specif-
ic accounts where information indicates the customers may have an inability
to meet financial obligations, such as bankruptcy. In these cases, the
Company uses its judgment, based on the best available facts and circum-
stances, to record a specific reserve for those customers against amounts
due to reduce the receivable to the amount expected to be collected. These
specific reserves are reevaluated and adjusted as additional information is
received. Second, a reserve is established for all customers based on a
range of percentages applied to receivables aging categories. These per-
centages are based on historical collection and write-off experience.

If circumstances change, for example the occurrence of higher than expected
defaults or a material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet
its financial obligation to the Company, estimates of the recoverability of
receivable amounts due could be reduced. 

INVENTORIES – LOWER OF COST OR MARKET, SLOW MOVING AND
OBSOLETE U.S. inventories are predominantly valued at the lower of LIFO
cost or market. The calculation of LIFO reserves, and therefore the net inven-
tory valuation, is affected by inflation and deflation in inventory components.
The Company ensures all inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market,
and continually reviews the book value of discontinued product lines and
stock-keeping-units (SKUs) to determine that these items are properly valued.
The Company also continually evaluates the composition of its inventory
and identifies obsolete and/or slow-moving inventories. Inventory items
identified as obsolete and/or slow-moving are evaluated to determine if
reserves are required. The Company identifies these inventories and assesses
the ability to dispose of them at a price greater than cost. If it is determined
that cost is less than market value, then cost is used for inventory valuation.
If market value is less than cost, then the Company writes down the related
inventory to that value. If a write down to the current market value is nec-
essary, the market value cannot be greater than the net realizable value, or
ceiling (defined as selling price less costs to sell and dispose), and cannot be
lower than the net realizable value less a normal profit margin, also called
the floor. If the Company is not able to achieve its expectations regarding net
realizable value of inventory at its current value, reserves would have to be
adjusted accordingly.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS The Company completed acquisi-
tions in 2004 and 2003 valued at $322 million and $23 million, respectively.
The assets and liabilities of acquired businesses are recorded under the pur-
chase method at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwill repre-
sents costs in excess of fair values assigned to the underlying net assets of
acquired businesses. The Company had recorded goodwill of $640 million and
$79 million of indefinite-lived tradenames at January 1, 2005.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to
have indefinite lives are not amortized, but are subject to annual impairment
testing. The identification and measurement of goodwill and unamortized
intangibles impairment involves the estimation of the fair value of reporting
units. The estimates of fair value of reporting units are based on the best
information available at the date of assessment, which primarily incorporate
management assumptions about future cash flows. Future cash flows can be
affected by changes in industry or market conditions or the rate and extent to
which anticipated synergies or cost savings are realized with newly acquired
entities. While the Company has not recorded intangibles impairment losses
in several years, it is possible impairments may occur in the future in the
event expected cash flows change significantly. Specifically, the Specialty
Tools and Fastening Systems reporting units had experienced operating profit
and margin rate declines in 2003 and 2002 due to the depressed technology
industry and intensified competition, respectively. In 2004, however, both
Fastening Systems and Specialty Tools operating profits and margin rates
increased due to improved market conditions and strong execution by man-
agement. Specialty Tools and Fastening Systems had $73 million and $41 million,
respectively, of recorded goodwill at January 1, 2005. There is potential for
future goodwill and intangible impairment losses if projected profits and cash
flows significantly decline from current estimates. See Note G Goodwill,
Customer Relationships and Other Intangible Assets of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PP&E) The Company generally
values PP&E at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Impairment
losses are recorded when indicators of impairment, such as plant closures,
are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by
those assets are less than the carrying amount. The impairment loss is
quantified by comparing the carrying amount of the assets to the weighted
average discounted cash flows, which consider various possible outcomes
for the disposition of the assets (i.e. sale, leasing, etc.). Primarily as a result
of plant rationalization, certain facilities and equipment are not currently
used in operations. The Company has recorded impairment losses related to
unused assets and additional such losses may occur in the future. 
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RISK INSURANCE To some extent, the Company self insures for various
business exposures. For domestic workers’ compensation and product liability,
the Company generally purchases outside insurance coverage only for
severe losses (“stop loss” insurance). The two risk areas involving the most
significant accounting estimates are workers’ compensation and product lia-
bility (liability for alleged injuries associated with the Company’s products).
Actuarial valuations performed by an outside risk insurance expert form the
basis for workers’ compensation and product liability loss reserves recorded.
The actuary contemplates the Company’s specific loss history, actual claims
reported, and industry trends among statistical and other factors to estimate
the range of reserves required. Risk insurance reserves are comprised of
specific reserves for individual claims and additional amounts expected for
development of these claims as well as for incurred but not yet reported
claims. The specific reserves for individual known claims are quantified by
third party administrator specialists (insurance companies) for workers’
compensation and by in-house legal counsel in consultation with outside
attorneys for product liability. The cash outflows related to risk insurance
claims are expected to occur over approximately 8 to 10 years, and the present
value of expected future claim payments is reserved. The Company believes
the liability recorded for such risk insurance reserves as of January 1, 2005
is adequate, but due to judgments inherent in the reserve process it is pos-
sible the ultimate costs will differ from this estimate.

INCOME TAXES The future tax benefit arising from net deductible tempo-
rary differences and tax carryforwards is $56 million at January 1, 2005 and
$84 million at January 3, 2004. The Company believes earnings during the
periods when the temporary differences become deductible will be sufficient
to realize the related future income tax benefits. For those jurisdictions where
the expiration date of tax carryforwards or the projected operating results
indicate that realization is not likely, a valuation allowance is provided. The
valuation allowance as of January 1, 2005 amounted to $37 million.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company estimates
future taxable income, considering the feasibility of ongoing tax planning
strategies and the realizability of tax loss carryforwards. Valuation
allowances related to deferred tax assets can be impacted by changes to tax
laws, changes to statutory tax rates and future taxable income levels. In the
event the Company were to determine that it would not be able to realize all
or a portion of its deferred tax assets in the future, the unrealizable amount
would be charged to earnings in the period in which that determination is
made. By contrast, if the Company were to determine that it would be able to
realize deferred tax assets in the future in excess of the net carrying amounts,
it would decrease the recorded valuation allowance through a favorable earn-
ings adjustment in the period in which that determination is made. 

The Company periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies for all
tax years still under audit based on the most current available information.
When it is deemed probable that an adjustment will be asserted, the
Company accrues its best estimate of the tax liability, inclusive of related
interest charges. See Note Q Income Taxes of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS The Company’s off-balance
sheet arrangements include the following: 

RECEIVABLE SECURITIZATIONS The Company has agreements to sell, on
a revolving basis, pools of accounts and notes receivables to a Qualified
Special Purpose Entity (QSPE), which qualifies to be accounted for as an
unconsolidated subsidiary. The entity is designed to facilitate the securitiza-
tion of certain trade accounts receivable. Assets and related debt off-balance
sheet were both $12 million at January 1, 2005. The Company is responsible
for servicing these accounts while the QSPE bears the risk of non-collection.
There were no sales of eligible receivables in 2004, as the securitization was
reduced by $42 million during the year.

In 2003 the Company acquired a third party’s interest in a Special Purpose
Entity (SPE) which supported the Mac Tools extended financing programs.
As a result, the entity became non-qualifying and the net assets which con-
sisted primarily of notes receivable of $56.4 million at January 3, 2004 were
consolidated in the Company’s balance sheet. No gains or losses related to
sales to the SPE were recorded. During 2003, the Company sold $39 million
of receivables in this portfolio to a third party. In 2004, the majority of the
remaining portfolio was sold without recourse for $50 million, and the SPE
was dissolved. The Company has outsourced both of the Mac Tools extended
financing programs to third parties and has thus reduced its exposure to
future credit losses.

SYNTHETIC LEASES The Company is a party to synthetic leasing programs
for two of its major distribution centers. The programs qualify as operating
leases for accounting purposes, such that only the monthly rent expense is
recorded in the Statement of Operations and the liability and value of the
underlying assets are off-balance sheet. These lease programs are utilized
primarily to reduce overall cost and to retain flexibility. As of January 1,
2005, the estimated fair value of assets and remaining obligations for these
two properties were $50 million and $42 million, respectively. 
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report to shareowners, including
the statements regarding the Company's ability; (i) to improve the overall
profitability of the Company’s operations; (ii) to limit the carryover impact of
steel costs and other inflation increases in 2005 to $40-45 million and to
offset 80-85% of that impact through the carryover impact of price increases;
(iii) to capitalize on future acquisition opportunities and fund other initiatives;
(iv) to invest in the routine needs of its business; and (v) to continue its
record of annual dividend payments and to increase such dividends are for-
ward looking and are based on current expectations and involve inherent
risks and uncertainties, including factors listed below and other factors that
could delay, divert or change any of them, and could cause actual outcomes
and results to differ materially from current expectations.

The Company’s ability to achieve the results described above (the “Results”)
is dependent on: (i) the success of the Company’s efforts to efficiently and
promptly integrate its recently announced (as well as future) acquisitions; (ii)
the success of the Company’s efforts to hold freight costs, steel and other
commodity costs down; (iii) the success of the Company’s efforts to sustain or
increase prices in order to, among other things, offset the impact of steel
costs and other inflation increases; (iv) continued improvements in produc-
tivity and cost reductions; (v) the identification of overhead cost reduction
opportunities and effective execution of the same; (vi) the Company’s suc-
cessful settlement of routine tax audits; (vii) the ability of the Company to
generate earnings sufficient to realize future income tax benefits during
periods when temporary differences become deductible; (viii) the continued
ability of the Company to access credit markets under satisfactory terms;
and (ix) satisfactory payment terms under which the Company buys and sells
goods, materials and products.

The Company’s ability to deliver the Results also is dependent upon: (i) the
continued success of the Company’s marketing and sales efforts, including
the Company’s ability to recruit and retain an adequate sales force; (ii) the
continued success of The Home Depot, Lowe’s and Wal-Mart sales initia-
tives as well as other programs to stimulate demand for company products;
(iii) the success of recruiting programs and other efforts to maintain or
expand overall Mac Tools truck count versus prior years; (iv) the ability of the
sales force to adapt to any changes made in the sales organization and
achieve adequate customer coverage; (v) the ability of the Company to fulfill
increasing demand for its products; (vi) the ability to continue successfully
managing and defending claims and litigation; and (vii) the absence or miti-
gation of increased pricing pressures from customers and competitors and
the ability to defend market share in the face of price competition.

The Company’s ability to achieve the Results will also be affected by external
factors. These external factors include pricing pressure and other changes
within competitive markets, the continued consolidation of customers partic-
ularly in consumer channels, inventory management pressures on the
Company’s customers, increasing competition, changes in trade, monetary,
tax and fiscal policies and laws, inflation, currency exchange fluctuations, the
impact of dollar/foreign currency exchange and interest rates on the compet-
itiveness of products and the Company’s debt program, the strength of the
U.S. economy and the impact of events that cause or may cause disruption in
the Company’s distribution and sales networks such as war, terrorist activities,
political unrest and recessionary or expansive trends in the economies of the
world in which the Company operates.

Unless required by applicable federal securities laws, the Company
undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances that may arise after the
date hereof.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of The Stanley Works is responsi-
ble for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of
internal control over financial reporting. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limi-
tations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Management has assessed
the effectiveness of The Stanley Works’ internal control over
financial reporting as of January 1, 2005. In making its
assessment, management has utilized the criteria set forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework. Management concluded that based on its assess-
ment, The Stanley Works’ internal control over financial

reporting was effective as of January 1, 2005. Management’s
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting did not include the internal
controls of ISR Solutions, Inc., a company acquired in
December 2004, with total assets of approximately $50 mil-
lion as reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and a
nominal earnings impact. Ernst & Young LLP, the auditor of
the financial statements included in this annual report, has
issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of
internal controls, a copy of which appears on page 47.

A N N UA L  C E O  C E RT I F I C AT I O N

( S E C T I O N  3 0 3 A . 1 2 ( A ) )

As the Chief Executive Officer of The Stanley Works, and as required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock
Exchange Listed Company Manual, I hereby certify that as of the date hereof I am not aware of any violation by the
Company of NYSE’s Corporate Governance listing standards, other than has been notified to the Exchange pursuant
to Section 303A.12(b) and disclosed as an attachment hereto.

NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE CERTIFICATION

John F. Lundgren
Chairman & CEO

James M. Loree
Executive Vice President & CFO

John F. Lundgren
Chairman & CEO

March 28, 2004

The Company has filed the certifications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits 31(i)(a) and
31(ii)(a) to its Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 7, 2005.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREOWNERS OF THE
STANLEY WORKS 

We have audited management’s assessment, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that The Stanley Works
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of January 1, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). The Stanley Works’ management is responsi-
ble for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of inter-
nal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we consid-
ered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assur-
ance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting; man-
agement’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting did not include
the internal controls of ISR Solutions, Inc., a company
acquired in December 2004, which is included in the 2004
consolidated financial statements of The Stanley Works and
constituted total assets of approximately $50 million at
January 1, 2005 and an immaterial impact on net earnings
for the year then ended.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that The
Stanley Works’ maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of January 1, 2005 is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our
opinion, The Stanley Works’ maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of January 1, 2005 based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of The
Stanley Works and subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and
January 3, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in shareowners’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended January
1, 2005 and our report dated February 25, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

February 25, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREOWNERS OF THE
STANLEY WORKS

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of The Stanley Works and subsidiaries as of
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the related con-
solidated statements of operations, changes in shareowners’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the
period ended January 1, 2005. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of The Stanley Works and subsidiaries at
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three fiscal years in the period ended January 1, 2005, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of The Stanley Work’s
internal control over financial reporting as of January 1,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and
our report dated February 25, 2005 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Hartford, Connecticut
February 25, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002

(In Millions of Dollars, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Net Sales $ 3,043.4 $ 2,530.6 $ 2,234.4
Costs and Expenses
Cost of sales $ 1,931.1 $ 1,673.0 $ 1,486.7
Selling, general and administrative 685.7 579.9 498.5
Provision for doubtful accounts 8.6 35.6 6.5
Interest income (4.2) (6.2) (4.0)
Interest expense 38.6 34.1 28.1
Other-net 46.8 39.4 (8.7)
Restructuring charges and asset impairments 7.7 52.2 –

$ 2,714.3 $ 2,408.0 $ 2,007.1

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 329.1 122.6 227.3
Income taxes 88.9 31.7 70.1

Net earnings from continuing operations $ 240.2 $ 90.9 $ 157.2
Earnings from discontinued operations before income taxes 

(including $180.7 million gain on 2004 divestitures ) 195.9 28.2 45.3
Income taxes on discontinued operations 69.2 11.2 17.5

Net earnings from discontinued operations $ 126.7 $ 17.0 $ 27.8

Net Earnings $ 366.9 $ 107.9 $ 185.0

Basic earnings per share of common stock:
Continuing operations $ 2.93 $ 1.08 $ 1.82
Discontinued operations 1.54 0.20 0.32

Total basic earnings per share of common stock $ 4.47 $ 1.28 $ 2.14

Diluted earnings per share of common stock:
Continuing operations $ 2.85 $ 1.07 $ 1.78
Discontinued operations 1.50 0.20 0.32

Total diluted earnings per share of common stock $ 4.36 $ 1.27 $ 2.10

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Assets 
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 250.0 $ 204.4
Accounts and notes receivable 582.0 462.8
Inventories 413.4 361.6
Deferred taxes 7.9 23.6
Prepaid expenses 74.3 73.6
Assets held for sale 44.3 110.1

Total Current Assets 1,371.9 1,236.1

Property, Plant and Equipment 398.9 392.5
Goodwill 639.5 422.1
Customer Relationships 144.9 110.2
Other Intangible Assets 143.8 100.3
Other Assets 151.6 162.6

Total Assets $ 2,850.6 $ 2,423.8

Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Short-term borrowings $ 47.1 $ –
Current maturities of long-term debt 55.4 157.7
Accounts payable 300.4 222.2
Accrued expenses 415.9 314.3
Liabilities held for sale – 62.5

Total Current Liabilities 818.8 756.7

Long-Term Debt 481.8 513.6
Deferred Taxes 90.0 81.6
Other Liabilities 238.7 202.8
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes R and S)
Shareowners’ Equity
Preferred stock, without par value:

Authorized and unissued 10,000,000 shares – –
Common stock, par value $2.50 per share:

Authorized 200,000,000 shares; 
issued 92,343,410 shares in 2004 and 2003 237.7 237.6

Retained earnings 1,496.3 1,212.6
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (55.2) (84.2)
ESOP debt (166.9) (173.8)

1,511.9 1,192.2

Less: cost of common stock in treasury
(9,936,347 shares in 2004 and11,066,589  shares in 2003) 290.6 323.1

Total Shareowners’ Equity 1,221.3 869.1

Total Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity $ 2,850.6 $ 2,423.8

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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Fiscal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Operating Activities:
Net earnings $ 366.9 $ 107.9 $ 185.0
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 95.0 86.5 71.2
Provision for doubtful accounts 8.6 36.0 6.7
Restructuring and asset impairments 7.7 53.2 –
Reclassify net proceeds from sales of businesses to

investing activities (204.9) – –
Other non-cash items 56.0 38.1 29.4

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and notes receivable (18.3) 62.3 29.0
Inventories (43.5) 24.1 (8.4) 
Accounts payable 54.8 (8.9) (14.3)
Accrued expenses 2.2 29.4 17.7
Income taxes 33.8 16.5 (49.1)
Other 13.2 19.2 17.9

Net cash provided by operating activities 371.5 464.3 285.1

Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (47.6) (31.4) (37.2)
Capitalized software (7.2) (8.0) (15.1)
Proceeds from sales of assets 3.0 4.7 11.5
Business acquisitions (301.2) (22.3) (355.9)
Net proceeds from sales of businesses 204.9 – –
Other 11.2 5.0 1.2

Net cash used in investing activities (136.9) (52.0) (395.5)

Financing Activities:
Payments on long-term debt (154.4) (18.1) (115.0)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 0.6 3.3 352.5
Net proceeds (repayments) on short-term borrowings 20.4 (140.8) (39.3)
Debt issuance costs (1.3) (0.3) (15.0)
Equity hedge settlement – (101.0) –
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 27.7 4.3 17.4
Cash dividends on common stock (89.4) (86.1) (85.6)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (196.4) (338.7) 115.0

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 7.4 9.1 1.9

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 45.6 82.7 6.5
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 204.4 121.7 115.2

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 250.0 $ 204.4 $ 121.7

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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Fiscal years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 

Accumulated 
Other  

Common Retained Comprehensive ESOP Treasury Shareowners’
(Millions of Dollars, except per share amounts) Stock Earnings Income (Loss) Debt Stock Equity

Balance December 29, 2001 $ 230.9 $1,195.4 $ (138.9) $ (187.7) $ (256.9) $ 842.8
Comprehensive income:

Net earnings 185.0 185.0
Currency translation adjustment and other 17.8 17.8
Minimum pension liability (2.3) (2.3)

Total comprehensive income 200.5
Cash dividends declared-$0.99 per share (85.6) (85.6)
Issuance of common stock (5.1) 27.8 22.7
Equity hedge shares delivered (41.6) 41.6 –
Tax benefit related to stock options 3.0 3.0
ESOP debt decrease and tax benefit 4.0 6.9 10.9

Balance December 28, 2002 230.9 1,255.1 (123.4) (180.8) (187.5) 994.3
Comprehensive income:

Net earnings 107.9 107.9
Currency translation adjustment and other 49.7 49.7
Minimum pension liability (3.8) (3.8)

Total comprehensive income 153.8
Cash dividends declared-$1.03 per share (86.1) (86.1)
Issuance of common stock (2.1) 12.4 10.3
Minority interest common stock 6.7 (6.7) –
Equity hedge shares delivered (66.0) 66.0 –
Restructured equity hedge settlement (214.0) (214.0)
Tax benefit related to stock options 0.3 0.3
ESOP debt decrease and tax benefit 3.5 7.0 10.5

Balance January 3, 2004 237.6 1,212.6 (84.2) (173.8) (323.1) 869.1
Comprehensive income:

Net earnings 366.9 366.9
Currency translation adjustment and other 29.1 29.1
Minimum pension liability (0.1) (0.1)

Total comprehensive income 395.9
Cash dividends declared-$1.08 per share (89.4) (89.4)
Issuance of common stock (3.0) 32.5 29.5
Minority interest common stock 0.1 0.1
Tax benefit related to stock options 5.9 5.9
ESOP debt decrease and tax benefit 3.3 6.9 10.2

Balance January 1, 2005 $ 237.7 $1,496.3 $ (55.2) $ (166.9) $ (290.6) $1,221.3

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A .  S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

BASIS OF PRESENTATION The Consolidated Financial Statements
include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries
which require consolidation, after the elimination of intercompany accounts
and transactions. The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to
December 31. There were 52 weeks in fiscal year 2004, 53 weeks in fiscal
year 2003 and 52 weeks in fiscal year 2002.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as certain
financial statement disclosures. While management believes that the esti-
mates and assumptions used in the preparation of the financial statements
are appropriate, actual results could differ from these estimates.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION For foreign operations with
functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, asset and liability accounts
are translated at current exchange rates; income and expenses are translated
using weighted average exchange rates. Resulting translation adjustments,
as well as gains and losses from certain intercompany transactions, are
reported in a separate component of shareowners’ equity. Exchange gains
and losses on transactions are included in earnings, and amounted to net
(gains)/losses for 2004, 2003 and 2002 of $ 4.3 million, $(6.2) million and
$0.7 million, respectively.

CASH EQUIVALENTS Highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less are considered cash equivalents.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE Trade receivables are stated at gross invoice
amount less discounts, other allowances and provision for uncollectible
accounts. The Company had extended long-term credit to customers to fund
the Mac Advantage financing program and also provided long-term secured
financing to Mac Tools wholesale distributors. However by the end of 2004
both Mac Tools extended financing programs were outsourced and the
majority of the related portfolios sold, resulting in lower credit risk. The Blick
business offers extended equipment financing leases to its customers, and
credit losses on this lease portfolio are insignificant. Interest on these loans
and leases accrues until they become delinquent, typically when payments
are 120 days past due, at which time they are written off. Payments received
related to these loans and leases subsequent to being written off are record-
ed as recoveries to the allowance for doubtful accounts. The net activity of
the Mac Tools extended financing programs is classified in Other-net in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS The Company estimates
its allowance for doubtful accounts using two methods. First, a specific
reserve is established for individual accounts where information is available
that customers may have an inability to meet financial obligations. Second,
a reserve is determined for all customers based on a range of percentages
applied to aging categories. These percentages are based on historical col-
lection and write-off experience. Actual write offs are charged against the
allowance when internal collection efforts have been unsuccessful, generally
when payments are more than 120 days past due.

INVENTORIES U.S. inventories, aside from Best, CST/Berger and certain
other small businesses, are valued at the lower of Last-In, First-Out (LIFO)
cost or market. Other inventories are generally valued at the lower of First-In,
First-Out (FIFO) cost or market. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PP&E) The Company gener-
ally values PP&E, including capitalized software, on the basis of historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and
amortization are provided using straight-line methods over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life or the term of the lease. Costs related to
maintenance and repairs which do not prolong the assets useful lives are
expensed as incurred. Impairment losses are recorded on long-lived assets
when indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows
estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying
amount. The amount of the impairment loss, if any, is quantified by compar-
ing the carrying amount of the assets to the weighted average discounted
cash flows, which consider various possible outcomes for the disposition of
the assets. Primarily as a result of plant rationalization, certain facilities and
equipment are not currently used in operations, which has resulted in impair-
ment losses. The following table summarizes the property, plant and equip-
ment impairment charges by segment and the classification of these charges
within the Consolidated Statements of Operations:
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Consumer Industrial Security
Products Tools Solutions Total

2004
Other-net $ 1.2 $ 2.0 $ 0.8 $ 4.0
Restructuring charges 

and asset impairments 0.8 0.6 2.3 3.7

2003
Other-net 1.6 2.7 – 4.3
Restructuring charges 

and asset impairments 7.7 18.6 – 26.3

2002
Other-net 1.2 7.2 – 8.4

GOODWILL, CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS AND OTHER INTANGIBLE

ASSETS Goodwill represents costs in excess of fair values assigned to the
underlying net assets of acquired businesses. Intangible assets acquired are
recorded at cost. Goodwill and other intangible assets were historically amor-
tized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. As of
January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under the
provisions of this Statement, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have
indefinite lives are no longer subject to amortization but are tested for impair-
ment annually and at any time when events suggest impairment may have
occurred. The identification and measurement of goodwill and unamortized
intangibles impairment involves the estimation of the fair value of reporting
units, which primarily incorporates management assumptions about future
cash flows. In the event the carrying value of the goodwill of a reporting unit
exceeded the fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss would be recog-
nized for the amount of that excess. Intangible assets with definite lives are
amortized over their estimated useful lives.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Derivative financial instruments are
employed to manage risks including foreign currency and interest rate expo-
sures and are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The Company
recognizes all derivative instruments, such as interest rate swap agree-
ments, foreign currency options, and foreign exchange contracts, in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recognized periodically either in earnings or in shareowners’
equity as a component of other comprehensive income, depending on
whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting,
and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.
Generally, changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as fair value
hedges are recorded in earnings along with the changes in the fair value of
the hedged items that relate to the hedged risk. Gains and losses on deriva-

tives designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective, are
recorded in other comprehensive income, and subsequently reclassified to
earnings to offset the impact of the hedged item when it occurs. In the event
the forecasted transaction to which a cash flow hedge relates is no longer
likely, the amount in other comprehensive income is recognized in earnings
and generally the derivative is terminated. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives used as hedges of the net investment in foreign operations are
reported in other comprehensive income as part of the cumulative translation
adjustment. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not qualifying as hedges,
and for any portion of a hedge that is ineffective, are reported in earnings.

The net interest paid or received on interest rate swaps is recognized as
interest expense. Gains resulting from the early termination of interest rate
swap agreements are deferred and amortized as adjustments to interest
expense over the remaining period of the debt originally covered by the ter-
minated swap. 

At times the Company manages exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates by creating offsetting positions through the use of forward exchange
contracts or currency options. The Company may also enter into forward
exchange contracts to hedge intercompany loans and may enter into pur-
chased foreign currency options to hedge anticipated transactions as it
deems appropriate. Gains and losses on forward exchange contracts are
deferred and subsequently recognized as part of the underlying transactions.
Changes in the fair value of options which represent a basket of foreign cur-
rencies to hedge anticipated cross-currency cash flows are recognized in
cost of sales. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION Revenue is recognized when the earnings
process is complete and the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred
to the customer, which generally occurs upon shipment of the finished prod-
uct but sometimes is upon delivery to customer facilities. 

Certain Security Solutions businesses sell security related products and
automatic doors which include multiple elements of products and services.
Revenues from multiple element arrangements are recognized as each ele-
ment is earned, consistent with the requirements of Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables". Amounts allocated to each element are based on objectively
determined fair value. Revenues from multiple element arrangements were
less than 10% of consolidated revenues in all years.

ADVERTISING COSTS Advertising costs, classified in selling, general
and administrative (SG&A) expenses, are expensed as incurred and amount-
ed to $28.3 million in 2004, $23.7 million in 2003 and $21.4 million in 2002.
Cooperative advertising expense reported as a deduction in net sales was
$21.9 million in 2004, $22.0 million in 2003 and $18.2 million in 2002.



2004 ANNUAL REPORT

55

INCOME TAXES Income tax expense is based on reported earnings
before income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary
differences between assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting
purposes and such amounts recognized for tax purposes, and are measured
by applying enacted tax rates in effect in years in which the differences are
expected to reverse.

EARNINGS PER SHARE Basic earnings per share equals net earnings
divided by weighted average shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share include the impact of common stock equivalents using
the treasury stock method when the effect is dilutive.

SHIPPING AND HANDLING COSTS The Company generally does not
bill customers for freight. Shipping and handling costs associated with
inbound freight are reported in cost of sales. Shipping costs associated with
outbound freight are reported as a reduction of net sales and amounted to
$104 million, $94 million and $86 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respective-
ly. Distribution costs are classified in SG&A expenses and amounted to $77
million, $76 million and $64 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS The adoption of the following
recent accounting pronouncements did not have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations and financial condition:

> Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others — An
Interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of
FASB Interpretation No. 34”’;

> FASB Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
— An Interpretation of ARB No. 51”;

> Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 132R (revised
2003), “Employer’s Disclosures about Pensions and Other Post-
Retirement Benefits — An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88,
and 106.”

In 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” This
Statement establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities
certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. This Statement was required to
be applied immediately to instruments entered into or modified after May
31, 2003 and to all other instruments that existed as of the beginning of the
first interim financial reporting period beginning after June 15, 2003. The
Company had $213 million in notional value Stanley common stock forward
contracts (equity hedges) which were implemented in previous years in an
effort to offset the diluted share count from changes in the stock price.

When the stock price rose, the Company would benefit from the hedge by
partially offsetting the impact of the diluted share count from in-the-money
stock options. These hedges, however, had an opposite result with a declin-
ing stock price. As a risk mitigation initiative and in conjunction with the new
accounting rules under SFAS No. 150, the Company restructured the $213
million equity hedge contracts. In April 2003, $100 million of stock was
purchased from the equity hedge counterparties which decreased shares
then outstanding by 3.9 million. These transactions were completed using a
combination of borrowings under existing lines of credit and available cash.
No open market purchase of shares occurred. The remaining $113 million in
forward contracts were modified to full physical settlement contracts with a
fixed notional principal of $113 million and 4.1 million of underlying shares.
These contracts are being settled over four years in equal quarterly install-
ments and do not contain the same dilution protection (or risk) as the former
contracts. The Company has the right to repurchase all or part of these
shares at a cost of $27.73 per share at any time during the four year period,
plus the interest carried on the debt less the dividends paid on the shares.
As a result of adopting SFAS No. 150, the remaining notional principal
balance, $71 million as of January 1, 2005 and $99 million as of January 3,
2004, is recognized as a liability on the balance sheet and the 2.5 and 3.6
million underlying shares, respectively, are reflected as treasury stock and
excluded from the number of shares used to calculate basic and diluted
earnings per share.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151 “Inventory Costs, an
amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (SFAS 151). SFAS 151 clarifies the
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling
costs and spoilage. In addition, SFAS 151 requires that allocation of fixed
production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the normal
capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of SFAS 151 are effec-
tive for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2005. The Company expects the adoption of SFAS 151 will not have a mate-
rial impact on its results of operations and financial position. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153 “Exchanges of
Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29” (SFAS 153).
SFAS 153 amends the guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions” by replacing the exception from fair value
measurement for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets with
an exception for exchanges that do not have commercial substance. SFAS
153 specifies that a nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the
future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a
result of the exchange. The provisions of SFAS 153 are effective for non-
monetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2005. The Company expects the adoption of SFAS 153 will not have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial position.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R), which is a revision of FASB Statement
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. SFAS 123R super-
sedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (APB 25), and amends FASB Statement No. 95,
“Statement of Cash Flows”. The approach to quantifying stock-based com-
pensation expense in SFAS 123R is similar to SFAS 123. However, the
revised statement requires all share-based payments to employees, includ-
ing grants of employee stock options, to be recognized as an expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations based on their fair values as they are
earned by the employees under the vesting terms. Pro forma disclosure of
stock-based compensation expense, as is the Company’s practice under
SFAS 123, will not be permitted after the first half of 2005, since SFAS 123R
must be adopted no later than the first interim or annual period beginning
after June 15, 2005. The Company expects to follow the “modified prospec-
tive” method of adoption of SFAS 123R whereby earnings for prior periods
will not be restated as though stock based compensation had been
expensed, rather than the “modified retrospective” method of adoption
which would entail restatements of previously published earnings. The
Company plans to adopt SFAS 123R on July 3, 2005. 

As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company currently accounts for share-based
compensation to employees under the APB 25 intrinsic value method and
generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options.
Accordingly, the adoption of the SFAS 123R fair value method will impact
the Company’s results of operations, although it will have no impact on over-
all financial position. The impact of adoption of SFAS 123R will depend on
levels of share-based compensation granted in the future and the fair value
assigned thereto. The future impact of SFAS 123R is likely to approximate
the pro forma compensation expense reported under SFAS 123 as described
in the disclosure of pro forma net earnings and earnings per share in Note A
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. As permitted by SFAS 123, the
Company uses the actual forfeitures method whereby pro forma compen-
sation expense is reduced only when options are forfeited. Under SFAS
123R, the estimated forfeiture method is required such that expected future
forfeitures will be reflected as a reduction of stock-based compensation
expense. However, under SFAS 123R, reduction of compensation expense is
not permitted if a vested share-based payment is later forfeited, as would
occur when an out-of-the money stock option is surrendered by a resigning
employee. SFAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess
of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow,
rather than as an operating cash flow, but this will not have a significant
impact on the Company’s cash flow reporting.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION The Company accounts for its stock-
based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees”, as amended by related interpretations of the FASB.
Accordingly, no compensation cost is recognized for stock-based compensa-
tion unless the quoted market price of the stock at the grant date is in excess
of the amount the employee must pay to acquire the stock. Stock-based
employee compensation is discussed further in Note K Capital Stock.

If compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans had
been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates consistent with
the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”, the Company’s net earnings and earnings per share would
have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

(Millions of Dollars, except for per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Net earnings, as reported $ 366.9 $ 107.9 $ 185.0
Less: Stock-based employee

compensation expense
determined under fair 
value method, net of 
related tax effects 6.7 1.9 5.4

Pro forma net earnings $ 360.2 $ 106.0 $ 179.6

Earnings per share:
Basic, as reported $ 4.47 $ 1.28 $ 2.14
Basic, pro forma $ 4.39 $ 1.26 $ 2.08

Diluted, as reported $ 4.36 $ 1.27 $ 2.10
Diluted, pro forma $ 4.28 $ 1.25 $ 2.03

Pro forma compensation cost relating to the stock options is recognized over
the vesting period. The weighted average vesting periods used for 2004, 2003
and 2002 stock option grants are 2.5 years, 2.9 years and 3.9 years, respec-
tively. The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions used for grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively: dividend yield of 2.6%, 3.6% and 3.2%; expected volatility of
20%, 25% and 30%; risk-free interest rates of 3.3% in 2004 and 2003 and
3.2% in 2002; and expected lives of 5 years in 2004, 2003 and 2002. The
weighted average fair value of stock options granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $6.76, $5.17 and $7.30, respectively. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) compensation cost is recognized in the
fourth quarter when the purchase price for the following fiscal year is estab-
lished. The fair value of the employees’ purchase rights under the ESPP was
estimated using the following assumptions for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively: dividend yield of 3.1%, 3.9% and 3.3%; expected volatility of 20%,
25% and 30%; risk-free interest rates of 2.2%, 1.2% and 1.9%; and expected
lives of one year. The weighted average fair value of those purchase rights
granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $7.03, $6.35 and $7.50, respectively.
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C.  I N V E N T O RY

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Finished products $ 320.4 $ 292.5
Work in process 29.3 27.8
Raw materials 63.7 41.3

Total $ 413.4 $ 361.6

Inventories in the amount of $240.6 million at January 1, 2005 and $237.4
million at January 3, 2004 were valued at the lower of LIFO cost or market.
If the LIFO method had not been used, inventories would have been $58.4
million higher than reported at January 1, 2005, and $46.9 million higher
than reported at January 3, 2004. The LIFO method is utilized in determining
inventory value as it results in better matching of cost and revenues.

D.  A S S E T S  H E L D  F O R  S A L E  

At January 1, 2005, the Company had three properties, valued at $1.4 million,
classified as held for sale related to plant rationalization activities. These
assets represent $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.1 million within the
Consumer Products, Industrial Tools and Security Solutions segments,
respectively, and consist of real property which is expected to be disposed
of throughout the next year. At January 3, 2004, the Company had four prop-
erties held for sale valued at $4.9 million. Two of the properties held for sale
at January 3, 2004 were sold during 2004, and two continue to be held for
sale. In addition to the aforementioned real properties, the net assets of the
Residential Entry Door, Home Décor and German paint roller (“Friess”) busi-
nesses, which were sold during 2004, are classified as held for sale at
January 3, 2004 as detailed in Note T Discontinued Operations. Assets held
for sale are carried at the lower of fair value or historical cost. 

At January 1, 2005, $42.9 million in financing lease receivables are classi-
fied as held for sale. These receivables, generated by the Blick business
within the Security Solutions segment, were sold on January 5, 2005, and an
insignificant gain will be recognized thereon in fiscal 2005.

E .  P R O P E RT Y,  P L A N T  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T   

Useful
Life

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 (Years)

Land $ 24.7 $ 20.5 N/A
Land improvements 18.2 17.4 10-20
Buildings 207.1 192.3 40
Leasehold improvements 17.1 11.3 Term of lease
Machinery and equipment 865.7 846.8 3-15
Computer software 87.9 85.4 3-5

Gross PP&E $ 1,220.7 $ 1,173.7
Less: accumulated 

depreciation and 
amortization 821.8 781.2

Total $ 398.9 $ 392.5

RECLASSIFICATIONS Certain prior years’ amounts have been reclassi-
fied to conform to the current year presentation. In addition, the assets and
liabilities of discontinued operations have been reclassified as held for sale
in the 2003 Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the earnings from discontin-
ued operations have been reclassified within the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

B .  A C C O U N T S  A N D  N O T E S  R E C E I VA B L E  

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Trade accounts and notes receivables $ 566.6 $ 474.5
Other 42.8 26.7

Gross accounts and notes receivable 609.4 501.2
Allowance for doubtful accounts (27.4) (38.4)

Net accounts and notes receivable $ 582.0 $ 462.8

Trade receivables are dispersed among a large number of retailers, distribu-
tors and industrial accounts in many countries. Adequate reserves have been
established to cover anticipated credit losses. 

The Company has agreements to sell, on a revolving basis, undivided interests
in defined pools of notes receivable to a Qualified Special Purpose Entity
(QSPE). The entity is designed to facilitate the securitization of certain trade
accounts receivable and is used as an additional source of liquidity. At
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, the defined pools of receivables
amounted to $121.8 million and $124.4 million, respectively. The proceeds
from sales of such eligible receivables to the QSPE in revolving-period secu-
ritizations were $21.0 million in 2003, and in 2004 the securitization was
reduced by $42.3 million. There were no gains or losses on these sales. The
amounts deducted from receivables in the January 1, 2005 and January 3,
2004 Consolidated Balance Sheets under this arrangement were $11.7 million
and $54.0 million, respectively. The Company is responsible for servicing and
collecting the receivables sold and held in the QSPE. Any incremental costs
related to such servicing and collection efforts are not significant.

In 2003, the Company acquired a third party’s interest in a second Special
Purpose Entity (SPE) which supported the Mac Tools extended financing pro-
grams. As a result, the entity became non-qualifying and the net assets,
which consisted of notes receivable of $56.4 million at January 3, 2004,
were consolidated in the Company’s balance sheet. Cash flows between the
Company and the SPE for 2003 totaled $21.0 million, primarily related to
receivable sales, collections on receivables and servicing fees. There were
no gains or losses on the sale of receivables to the SPE. During 2003, the
Company sold a portion of this receivable portfolio to a third party for $39
million and recognized a loss on the sale of $6 million. In 2004, the SPE was
dissolved and the majority of the remaining receivable portfolio was sold for
$50 million, with a resulting $0.2 million gain.
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Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property, plant and
equipment (inclusive of discontinued operations depreciation and amortiza-
tion expense of $2.5 million in 2004, $4.7 million in 2003, and $4.1 million in
2002) was as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Depreciation $ 58.3 $ 59.6 $ 57.2
Amortization 13.0 12.9 10.3

Depreciation and 
amortization expense $ 71.3 $ 72.5 $ 67.5

F.  A C Q U I S I T I O N S

The Company completed 14 acquisitions during 2004, 2003 and 2002. These
businesses were acquired pursuant to the Company's growth strategy,
including the expansion of the security platform, and reflecting a deliberate
reduction of risk associated with certain large customer concentrations.
With the exception of CST/Berger, which is in the Industrial Tools segment,
all of the significant acquisitions and most of the smaller ones expanded the
Security Solutions segment. The acquisitions were accounted for as purchas-
es in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141
(SFAS 141), “Business Combinations” and their results are included in the
Company's consolidated operating results from the respective acquisition
dates. All of the acquisitions have resulted in the recognition of goodwill.
Goodwill arises because the purchase price paid reflects numerous factors
including the strategic fit and expected synergies these targets bring to
existing operations, the competitive nature of the bidding process and the
prevailing market value for comparable companies.

SFAS 141 requires all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired to be report-
ed at fair value and the excess is recorded as goodwill. The Company obtains
information during due diligence and from other sources which forms the
basis for the initial allocation of purchase price to the estimated fair value
of assets and liabilities acquired. In the months following an acquisition, the
Company generally obtains independent intangible asset valuation reports,
asset appraisals and other data in order to finalize the fair values assigned
to acquired assets and liabilities. 

Integration of certain acquisitions requires reduction of redundant person-
nel, closure of facilities, and other restructuring actions related to the
acquired businesses. In such cases, a restructuring accrual is recorded for
actions identified in integration strategy plans initially developed by the
Company as of the acquisition date, with a resulting increase to goodwill. As
integration strategies are executed, the Company monitors the previously
established restructuring accruals and makes adjustments to such accruals
to the extent actual expenditures differ from the estimated accruals.

Adjustments recorded to previously established restructuring accruals until
the time integration plans are fully executed, not to exceed one year from
date of original acquisition, are reflected in the final goodwill amount
included in the purchase price allocation. Adjustments made subsequent to
the finalization of integration strategies, or after one year from the date of
original acquisition, are reflected in the Company’s results of operations. The
Company recorded $4.7 million in restructuring reserves, primarily for sever-
ance, in connection with its first quarter 2004 acquisitions. Restructuring
reserves pertaining to the 2002 Best acquisition were $6.4 million, com-
prised of $5.3 million for severance and $1.1 million in exit costs primarily
for non-cancelable leases. All but $0.3 million of these acquisition related
reserves were expended by January 1, 2005. 

The Company effectively acquired Blick plc (Blick) on January 20, 2004 by
which date 86% of the outstanding share capital was purchased, and all
remaining shares were acquired shortly thereafter. The final purchase price
for Blick was $177 million, and $22 million of this is reflected as current debt
since it is expected to be paid in 2005. Blick is a leading U.K. integrator of
security systems, communication and time management solutions for the
commercial and industrial sectors. On March 9, 2004, the Company acquired
Frisco Bay Industries Ltd. (Frisco Bay) for $39 million. A small number of Frisco
Bay shares remained outstanding at the end of the first quarter and these
shares were all acquired in the second quarter. Frisco Bay is a leading
Canadian provider of security systems and equipment for financial institu-
tions, government agencies and major industrial corporations. On January 15,
2004, the Company completed the acquisition of Chicago Steel Tape Co. and
affiliates (CST/Berger) for $64 million. CST/Berger is a leading designer and
manufacturer of laser and optical leveling and measuring equipment. On
December 13, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of ISR Solutions,
Inc. (ISR), a North American electronic security integrator, and on November
8, 2004, a small automatic door distributor and installer was acquired; the
purchase price for these fourth quarter acquisitions was $42 million.

The total purchase price of $321.7 million for the 2004 acquisitions reflects
transaction costs and is net of cash acquired. Amounts allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on estimates of fair value.
Adjustments to reflect the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are substantially complete for Blick, Frisco Bay and CST/Berger.
However the purchase accounting for the fourth quarter acquisitions is pre-
liminary, mainly with respect to intangible asset valuations, related deferred
taxes, and fixed asset appraisals. For the 2004 acquisitions, $180.6 million in
goodwill was acquired in the Security Solutions segment and $20.5 million in
the Industrial Tools segment. 
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of major assets
acquired and liabilities assumed for the 2004 acquisitions in the aggregate:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004

Current assets, primarily accounts 
receivable and inventories $ 140.7

Property, plant, and equipment 24.4
Goodwill 201.1
Other intangible assets 96.7

Total assets $ 462.9

Current liabilities 106.0
Other liabilities (primarily deferred taxes) 35.2

Total liabilities $ 141.2

$23 million of the total amount of goodwill associated with the 2004 acqui-
sitions is deductible for tax purposes.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS The amounts allocated to intangible
assets for the 2004 acquisitions are as follows: 

2004 Weighted
Gross Average

Carrying Life
(Millions of Dollars) Amount (Years)

Amortized Intangible Assets
Customer relationships $ 46.8 11
Patents and copyrights 21.9 5
Trade names 5.9 5
Other intangible assets 13.0 4

Total $ 87.6 8

Unamortized Intangible Assets
Trademarks $ 9.1

In 2003, the Company acquired three small businesses at a total cost of
$23.4 million. Purchase accounting for all of these acquisitions has been
finalized. The acquisitions did not have a material pro forma impact on
2003 and 2002 operations.

On November 25, 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of Best Lock
Corporation (Best) for $316.0 million. Best is a global provider of security
access control systems and is reported in the Security Solutions segment. In
2003, the Company made a $0.6 million additional purchase price payment
for Best which was accounted for as an increase to goodwill. The Company
finalized its allocation of the purchase price for Best in 2003 to reflect the
final determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired. 

PRO FORMA EARNINGS FOR SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS The
information for 2004 and 2003 set forth below reflects the pro forma con-
solidated results as if the 2004 acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of
2003. The information for 2002 reflects the pro forma results as if the Best
acquisition had been consummated at the beginning of that year. Operating
results for the acquisitions during these pre-acquisition periods are not nec-
essarily indicative of future results. Included in the pro-forma 2002 results
are $11.0 million in after-tax restructuring and other nonrecurring charges
incurred by Best in the pre-acquisition period.

(Millions of Dollars) (Unaudited) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 3,104.3 $ 2,781.6 $ 2,454.5
Net earnings $ 363.0 $ 113.9 $ 171.6
Diluted earnings per share $ 4.31 $ 1.34 $ 1.94

G.  GOODWILL,  CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS

AND OTHER INTANGIBLE AS SETS 

GOODWILL Under SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”,
goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortized. For
these assets, SFAS No. 142 requires evaluation for impairment annually or
more frequently when impairment indicators are present. The Company per-
formed the impairment evaluations in the third quarter each year; none of
the evaluations indicated an impairment loss. 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment are as follows:

Consumer Industrial Security
(Millions of Dollars) Products Tools Solutions Total

Balance January 3, 2004 $ 108.3 $ 116.9 $ 196.9 $ 422.1
Acquisitions 

during the year – 20.5 180.6 201.1
Final purchase accounting 

allocations – – 1.7 1.7
Foreign currency translation 

and other 1.0 2.4 11.2 14.6

Balance January 1, 2005 $ 109.3 $ 139.8 $ 390.4 $ 639.5

The increase in goodwill is mainly a result of 2004 acquisitions. Purchase
accounting for certain 2004 acquisitions is preliminary, primarily with
respect to identification and valuation of intangible assets and appraisals of
fixed assets, and is expected to be finalized by mid 2005. As a result, good-
will may be adjusted.
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS Other intangible assets at January 1,
2005 and January 3, 2004 were as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized Intangible Assets
– Definite lives
Patents and copyrights $ 38.2 $ (14.8) $ 14.4 $ (10.1)
Trademarks 24.6 (11.8) 17.6 (9.8)
Customer relationships 168.8 (23.9) 120.7 (10.5)
Other intangible assets 31.9 (12.3) 20.7 (9.8)

Total $ 263.5 $ (62.8) $ 173.4 $ (40.2)

Unamortized Intangible Assets
– Indefinite lives
Trademarks $ 78.9 $ 69.8
Minimum pension liability 9.1 7.5

Total $ 88.0 $ 77.3

Aggregate other intangible assets amortization expense was $23.7 million,
$14.0 million and $3.7 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Future
estimated amortization expense is $26.5 million for 2005, $24.0 million for
2006, $22.5 million for 2007, $20.4 million for 2008 and $16.1 million for 2009.

H .  A C C R U E D  E X P E N S E S

Accrued expenses at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 follow:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Income and other taxes $ 131.3 $ 87.5
Payroll and related taxes 62.3 49.3
Trade allowances 48.0 46.3
Insurance and benefits 26.1 26.9
Other 148.2 104.3

Total $ 415.9 $ 314.3

I .  L O N G -T E R M  D E B T  A N D  

F I N A N C I N G  A R R A N G E M E N T S

Long-term debt and financing arrangements at January 1, 2005 and January
3, 2004 follow:

(Millions of Dollars) Interest Rate 2004 2003

Notes payable in 2004 5.8% $ – $ 120.0
Notes payable in 2007 4.5% 75.0 75.0
Notes payable in 2007 3.5% 150.0 150.0
Notes payable in 2012 4.9% 200.0 200.0
Industrial Revenue Bonds 

due in 2010 6.3-6.8% 5.6 5.6
ESOP loan guarantees, 

payable in varying 
monthly installments 
through 2009 6.1% 8.6 12.9

Equity hedge indebtedness, 
payable in quarterly 
installments 
through 2007 Libor plus 1.25% 70.6 98.9

U.K. loan notes, payable
on demand UK Libor less 0.5% 22.8 –

Other, including capital
leases and other notes, 
payable in varying 
amounts through 2009 2.4-10.2% 4.6 8.9

Total debt $ 537.2 $ 671.3
Less: current maturities 55.4 157.7

Long-term debt $ 481.8 $ 513.6

In 2004, the Company took advantage of favorable market conditions by
refinancing its 364 day and long-term (multi-year) credit arrangements, cre-
ating a long-term credit facility with several U.S. banks to borrow up to
$400.0 million at the lower of prime or money market rates. This long-term
credit facility matures in October 2009. The commitment fee is 0.07%. In
addition, the Company has short-term lines of credit with numerous foreign
banks aggregating $160.6 million, of which $120.1 million was available at
January 1, 2005. Short-term arrangements are reviewed annually for renew-
al. Of the aggregate $560.6 million long-term and short-term lines, $400.0
million is available to support the Company’s commercial paper program. The
weighted average interest rates on short-term borrowings at January 1,
2005 and January 3, 2004 were 1.4% and 1.2%, respectively.

To manage interest costs and foreign exchange risk, the Company maintains
a portfolio of interest rate swap agreements. See Note J Financial
Instruments for more information regarding the Company's interest rate and
currency swap agreements.
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CASH FLOW HEDGES The Company uses purchased currency options and
forward exchange contracts to reduce exchange risks arising from cross-border
cash flows expected to occur over the next one year period. In addition, the
Company enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge inter-company
activity. The objective of these practices is to minimize the impact of foreign
currency fluctuations on operating results. 

At January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, forward contracts hedging inter-
company sales and purchases totaled $78.6 million and $11.2 million,
respectively. At January 3, 2004, currency options hedged anticipated
transactions totaling $118.0 million. The forward contracts and options are
denominated in Canadian dollars, Australian dollars, Taiwanese dollars,
Japanese Yen, Thailand Baht, Great Britain Pound, Israeli Shekels, Polish
Zloty, Euro, Danish Krone, New Zealand dollars, South African Rand, Swiss
Franc and Swedish Krona, and generally mature within the next one year
period. The $0.1 million fair value of these derivative instruments is recorded
in Other Assets and Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

In March 2004, the Company entered into a cross currency interest rate swap,
to better match the cash flows related to its Canadian inter-company note
receivable with its cash flows from operations. The Company swapped a
Canadian dollar fixed rate asset resulting from the financing of the Frisco Bay
acquisition into a United States dollar fixed rate asset with a United States
dollar notional value of $25.2 million, and a maturity date of March 2009. At
January 1, 2005, the fair value of this currency swap was a loss of $3.7 mil-
lion as reflected in Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges, the Company records the effective portions of the gain or loss on the
derivative instrument in accumulated other comprehensive loss as a sepa-
rate component of shareowners’ equity and subsequently reclassifies these
amounts into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is
recognized in earnings. The Company immediately reports the ineffective
portion of the gain or loss, if any, in Other-net in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The gains and losses recorded on these transac-
tions are not material to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
The $7.2 million reported for cash flow hedge effectiveness in accumulated
other comprehensive loss will be reclassified to earnings when the hedged
transactions occur in the years 2009 through 2014. The ultimate amount
recognized will vary based on fluctuations of the hedged currencies (Euro,
Great Britain Pound and Canadian dollar) through the maturity dates. During
2004 and 2003, no cash flow hedges were discontinued for which it was
probable that a forecasted transaction would not occur.

FAIR VALUE HEDGES For derivative instruments that are designated and
qualify as fair value hedges, the Company recognizes the gain or loss on the
derivative instrument, as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged
item, in earnings in the current period. 

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt for each of the years from
2005 to 2009 are $55.4 million, $29.3 million, $240.2 million, $2.9 million
and $3.8 million, respectively. Interest paid during 2004, 2003 and 2002
amounted to $39.0 million, $32.9 million and $25.6 million, respectively.

Included in Short-term borrowings on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, are commercial paper and extendible
commercial notes utilized to support working capital requirements, of $12.1
million and zero, respectively. 

In March 2004, the Company repaid $120 million of long-term debt which
matured on March 1, 2004 with commercial paper borrowings. CST/Berger,
Blick, Frisco Bay and ISR were acquired using a combination of cash on hand,
commercial paper borrowings, and proceeds from the sales of businesses.
The Company assumed $29 million of debt in the Blick and Frisco Bay acqui-
sitions. In addition, as of January 1, 2005, the remaining $22.8 million Blick
purchase obligation is reflected in the current portion of long-term debt. 

In June 2003, $113.0 million in the Company’s common stock equity hedge
forward contracts were modified to full physical settlement contracts with a
fixed notional principal of $113.0 million and 4.1 million of underlying shares.
These contracts are being settled with required cash payments over four
years in equal quarterly installments. As a result of adopting SFAS No. 150,
the remaining notional principal balance of $70.6 and $98.9 million as of
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively, has been recognized as
debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the 2.5 million and 3.6 million
underlying shares, respectively, are excluded from the number of shares used
to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share. The $70.6 million liability
represents the amount that would be paid if settlement were to occur as of
January 1, 2005. Changes in the value of the shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock have no effect on any future settlement amounts.

J.  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  

The Company’s objectives in using debt related financial instruments are to
obtain the lowest cost source of funds within a targeted range of variable to
fixed-rate debt proportions and to minimize the foreign exchange risk of
obligations. To meet these risk management objectives, the Company enters
into interest rate swap and currency swap agreements. The Company does
not use derivative instruments for speculative purposes. The Company rec-
ognizes derivatives in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value and
applies hedge accounting based on the criteria specified in SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” whereby
management designates its derivative instruments as cash flow hedges, fair
value hedges or net investment hedges. 
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In February 2004, the Company entered into two cross currency interest rate
swaps, to better match the cash flows related to its inter-company notes
receivable with its cash flows from operations. The Company swapped a
Great Britain pound floating rate asset resulting from the financing of the
Blick acquisition into a United States dollar floating rate asset with a notion-
al value of $83.6 million, and a Euro floating rate asset which also arose
from the Blick acquisition into a United States dollar floating rate asset with
a notional value of $39.1 million. Both the Great Britain Pound and Euro
swaps are scheduled to mature in January 2009. At January 1, 2005, the fair
value of these currency swaps was a loss of $8.4 million as reflected in
Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

The Company terminated two interest rate swap arrangements in March
2004. These interest rate swaps were fixed to floating rate arrangements
and the notional values were $75 million and $100 million with termination
dates of November 2007 and November 2012, respectively. They were fair
value hedges for a portion of the $150 million five year and $200 million 10
year notes issued in November 2002. These swaps were executed to man-
age the cost of funds through an optimal mix of variable to fixed rate debt.
The effect of the termination of these swaps amounted to a $0.3 million gain
which will be amortized over the remaining lives of the five year and ten year
notes issued in November 2002.

In December 2003, the Company entered into a currency option denominat-
ed in the Great Britain Pound in order to mitigate the currency exposure
related to the acquisition of Blick. These options had a notional value of 48.3
million Great Britain Pounds representing approximately half the purchase
price of Blick and expired on January 28, 2004. The fair value of this option
was $1.5 million on January 3, 2004 and is reflected as a gain in Other-net
in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in 2003. The Company record-
ed an additional $0.4 million gain on the expiration of this option in 2004 in
Other-net in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company entered into two additional interest rate swap arrangements in
June and October 2003 with notional values of $60 million each. These inter-
est rate swaps were floating to fixed rate arrangements with a forward start
date of March 1, 2004. These swaps were terminated in November 2003 pur-
suant to a decision that the Company would not refinance the $120 million of
debt maturing in March 2004. The gain associated with the swap terminations
totaled $2.8 million and is recorded in Other-net in the 2004 Consolidated
Statement of Operations. The $120 million of debt was repaid in 2004.

NET INVESTMENT HEDGE The Company utilizes net investment hedges
to offset the translation adjustment arising from remeasuring the Company’s
investment in the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of its foreign
subsidiaries. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as net
investment hedges, the Company records the effective portion of the gain or

loss on the derivative instrument in currency translation adjustment as a sep-
arate component of shareowners’ equity. In February 2004, the Company
entered into a cross currency interest rate swap with a United States dollar
notional value of $45.4 million to hedge its net investment in Great Britain
Pound assets. The Company pays Great Britain pounds and receives United
States dollars using fixed interest rates, offsetting the translation adjustment
of its net investment in Great Britain Pound assets. This swap has a maturity
date of February 2014. At January 1, 2005, the fair value of this currency
swap was a loss of $3.9 million and is recorded in Other Liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet and the loss/gain on the net investment hedge
included in currency translation adjustment was $3.6 million. 

HEDGE EFFECTIVENESS For foreign currency options and forward con-
tracts designated as cash flow or net investment hedges, the Company
measures hedge effectiveness by comparing the cumulative change in the
hedge contract with the cumulative change in the hedged item, both of
which are based on forward rates. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is
recognized in earnings immediately.

For interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges, the Company mea-
sures the hedging effectiveness by offsetting the change in the variable
portion of the interest rate swap with the change in the expected interest
flows due to fluctuations in the LIBOR based interest rate.

Hedge ineffectiveness was immaterial for 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The counterparties to these interest rate and currency financial instruments
are major international financial institutions. The Company is exposed to
credit risk for net exchanges under these agreements, but not for the notion-
al amounts. The risk of default is considered remote.

The carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments
at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 follow:

(Millions of Dollars, (asset) liability) 2004 2003

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value

Long-term debt, 
including current portion $ 537.2 $ 539.6 $ 671.3 $ 682.7

Cash flow hedges
Currency and 

interest rate swaps 28.7 28.7 13.1 13.1
Forward contracts (0.1) (0.1) 0.3 0.3
Currency options – – (3.1) (3.1)

Fair value hedges
Currency and 

interest rate swaps 15.5 15.5 13.0 13.0
Net investment hedges

Currency and 
interest rate swaps 3.9 3.9 – –

Total financial instruments $ 585.2 $ 587.6 $ 694.6 $ 706.0
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were modified to full physical settlement contracts with a fixed notional
principal of $113 million and 4.1 million of underlying shares as discussed in
Note I Long-term Debt and Financing Arrangements.

Exclusive of final settlement activity in 2003, aggregate annual settlement
activity under the equity hedge was as follows: 1,896,482 shares of common
stock with a market value of $47.2 million ($66.0 million book value) delivered
in 2003 and 1,338,708 shares of common stock with a market value of $46.6
million ($41.6 million book value) delivered in 2002. This annual settlement
activity is reflected as issued from treasury in the table of common stock
share activity.

COMMON STOCK RESERVED Common stock shares reserved for
issuance under various employee and director stock plans at January 1, 2005
and January 3, 2004 follows:

2004 2003

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 3,509,013 3,627,557
Stock-based compensation plans 17,168,515 17,639,114

Total 20,677,528 21,266,671

PREFERRED STOCK PURCHASE RIGHTS Each outstanding share of
common stock has one half of a share purchase right. Each purchase right
may be exercised to purchase one two-hundredth of a share of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $220.00, subject
to adjustment. The rights, which do not have voting rights, expire on March
10, 2006, and may be redeemed by the Company at a price of $0.01 per right
at any time prior to the tenth day following the public announcement that a
person has acquired beneficial ownership of 10% or more of the outstand-
ing shares of common stock. In the event that the Company is acquired in a
merger or other business combination transaction, provision shall be made
so that each holder of a right (other than a holder who is a 10%-or-more
shareowner) shall have the right to receive, upon exercise thereof, that num-
ber of shares of common stock of the surviving Company having a market
value equal to two times the exercise price of the right. Similarly, if anyone
becomes the beneficial owner of more than 10% of the then outstanding
shares of common stock (except pursuant to an offer for all outstanding
shares of common stock which the independent directors have deemed to be
fair and in the best interest of the Company), provision will be made so that
each holder of a right (other than a holder who is a 10%-or-more shareown-
er) shall thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise thereof, common
stock (or, in certain circumstances, cash, property or other securities of the
Company) having a market value equal to two times the exercise price of the
right. At January 1, 2005 there were 41,203,532 outstanding rights. There
are 250,000 shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock reserved
for issuance in connection with the rights.

Generally, the carrying value of the debt related financial instruments is
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in long-term debt. The fair val-
ues of long-term debt instruments are estimated using discounted cash flow
analysis, based on the Company’s marginal borrowing rates. The fair values
of foreign currency and interest rate swap agreements are based on current
settlement values. The carrying amount of cash equivalents and short-term
borrowings approximates fair value.

K .  C A P I TA L  S T O C K

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING Weighted-average
shares outstanding used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share
follows:

2004 2003 2002

Basic earnings per share, 
weighted-average
shares outstanding 82,057,863 84,143,124 86,452,974

Dilutive effect of 
stock options and awards 2,185,949 695,885 1,793,381

Diluted earnings per share, 
weighted-average
shares outstanding 84,243,812 84,839,009 88,246,355

COMMON STOCK SHARE ACTIVITY Common stock share activity for
2004, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Outstanding,
beginning of year 81,276,821 86,835,117 84,658,747

Issued from treasury 1,151,576 2,465,551 2,181,151
Returned to treasury (21,334) (3,077) (4,781)

Equity Hedge Termination – (8,020,770) –

Outstanding,
end of year 82,407,063 81,276,821 86,835,117

COMMON STOCK EQUITY HEDGE The Company previously entered
into equity hedges, in the form of equity forwards on its common shares, to
offset the dilutive effect of in-the-money stock options on earnings per share
and to reduce potential cash outflow for the repurchase of the Company’s
stock to offset stock option exercises. Under the equity hedge contracts,
when the price of the Company’s common stock appreciated since the last
quarterly interim settlement, the Company received its common shares from
the counterparties. When the price of the Company stock depreciated since
the last quarterly interim settlement, the Company delivered its common
stock from treasury shares to the counterparties. Interim quarterly settle-
ments were in shares of common stock, not cash, and were accounted for
within equity. As of December 28, 2002 the equity hedge contracts had a
$213 million notional value with 6.1 million underlying shares. In April 2003,
the Company settled $100 million of the contracts through a cash repurchase
of 3.9 million underlying shares at that time. In June 2003, the remaining
$113 million in the Company’s common stock equity hedge forward contracts
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS The Company has stock-
based compensation plans for salaried employees and non-employee
directors of the Company and its affiliates. The plans provide for discretionary
grants of stock options, restricted stock shares and other stock-based
awards. Stock options are granted at the market price of the Company’s
stock on the date of grant and have a ten-year term. Generally, stock option
grants vest ratably between one and five years from the date of grant. 

Stock option amounts and weighted-average exercise prices follows:

2004 2003 2002

Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding,
beginning
of year 10,995,285 $30.14 11,009,696 $30.06 9,855,884 $29.17

Granted 1,697,250 40.90 1,238,442 29.09 1,944,250 32.91
Exercised (957,976) 26.15 (159,521) 22.35 (593,188) 24.72
Forfeited (1,224,651) 29.07 (1,088,732) 34.30 (175,250) 29.65
Expired (2,000) 20.16 (4,600) 20.13 (22,000) 18.56

Outstanding,
end of year 10,507,908 $32.46 10,995,285 $30.14 11,009,696 $30.06

Exercisable, 
end of year 5,660,667 $29.89 5,375,022 $27.09 7,326,094 $27.31

Outstanding and exercisable stock option information at January 1, 2005
follows:

Outstanding Exercisable Exercisable 
Stock Options Stock Options

Weighted-
average Weighted- Weighted-

Exercise Remaining average average
Price Contractual Exercise Exercise
Ranges Options Life Price Options Price

$19.00-$25.00 1,368,625 5.07 $ 21.91 1,367,625 $ 21.91

$25.01-$35.00 5,657,632 5.83 $ 29.83 3,132,766 $ 29.13

$35.01-$56.00 3,481,651 7.52 $ 40.87 1,160,276 $ 41.36

10,507,908 6.29 $ 32.46 5,660,667 $ 29.89

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN The Employee Stock Purchase
Plan enables substantially all employees in the United States, Canada and
Belgium to subscribe at any time to purchase shares of common stock on a
monthly basis at the lower of 85% of the fair market value of the shares on
the first day of the plan year ($26.78 per share for fiscal year 2004 purchas-
es) or 85% of the fair market value of the shares on the last business day of
each month. A maximum of 6,000,000 shares are authorized for subscription.
During 2004, 2003 and 2002 shares totaling 118,544, 49,743 and 119,853,
respectively, were issued under the plan at average prices of $26.78, $23.41
and $31.42 per share, respectively.

LONG-TERM STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN The Long-Term Stock Incentive
Plan (LTSIP) provided for the granting of awards to senior management
employees for achieving Company performance measures. The Plan was
administered by the Compensation and Organization Committee of the Board
of Directors consisting of non-employee directors. Awards were generally
payable in shares of common stock as directed by the Committee. No awards
were earned in 2004, 2003 and 2002 as a non-stock based incentive plan was
in place. Shares delivered that had been earned in earlier years amounted to
zero in 2004, 65,180 in 2003, and 16,556 in 2002.

L .  A C C U M U L AT E D  O T H E R  

C O M P R E H E N S I V E  L O S S

Accumulated other comprehensive loss at the end of each fiscal year was
as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Currency translation 
adjustment $ (38.9) $ (76.8) $ (119.2)

Minimum pension liability, net
of tax (9.1) (9.0) (5.2)

Fair value of cash flow 
hedge effectiveness (7.2) 1.6 1.0

Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss $ (55.2) $ (84.2) $ (123.4)

M .  E M P L O Y E E  B E N E F I T  P L A N S

EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN (ESOP) Substantially all U.S.
employees may contribute from 1% to 15% of their salary to a tax deferred
savings plan. Employees elect where to invest their own contributions. The
Company contributes an amount equal to one-half of the employee contribu-
tion up to the first 7% of their salary of which fifty percent is automatically
invested in the Company’s common stock. The investment of the remaining
fifty percent of the Company match is controlled by the employees partici-
pating in the plan. The amounts in 2004, 2003 and 2002 under this matching
arrangement were $7.3 million, $5.3 million and $5.7 million, respectively. 

Also included in the ESOP is a non-contributory benefit for U.S. salaried and
non-union hourly employees, called the Cornerstone plan. Under this benefit
arrangement, the Company contributes amounts ranging from 3% to 9% of
employee compensation based on age. Approximately 2,000 U.S. employees
receive an additional average 1.5% contribution actuarially designed to
replace the pension benefits curtailed in 2001. Contributions under the
Cornerstone plan were $12.6 million in 2004, $13.9 million in 2003 and $12.8
million in 2002. Assets of the Cornerstone defined contribution plan are
invested in equity securities and bonds.
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Shares of the Company’s common stock held by the ESOP were purchased
with the proceeds of external borrowings in the 1980’s and borrowings from
the Company in 1991. The external ESOP borrowings are guaranteed by the
Company and are included in long-term debt. Shareowners’ equity reflects a
reduction for the internal and the external borrowings.

Unallocated shares are released from the trust based on current period debt
principal and interest payments as a percentage of total future debt principal
and interest payments. These released shares along with allocated dividends,
dividends on unallocated shares acquired with the 1991 loan, and shares
purchased on the open market are used to fund employee contributions,
employer contributions and dividends earned on participant account balances.
Dividends on unallocated shares acquired with the 1989 and prior loan are
used only for debt service. 

Net ESOP activity recognized is based on total debt service and share pur-
chase requirements less employee contributions and dividends on ESOP
shares. The Company’s net ESOP activity resulted in expense of $2.2 million
in 2004, $9.2 million in 2003, and $0.1 million in 2002. ESOP expense is
affected by the market value of the Company’s common stock on the monthly
dates when shares are released. In 2004, the market value of shares
released averaged $43.20 per share. ESOP expense may vary in the future as
the market value of the Company’s common stock fluctuates.

Dividends on ESOP shares, which are charged to shareowners’ equity as
declared, were $12.2 million in 2004, $12.4 million in 2003 and $12.6 million
in 2002. Interest costs incurred by the ESOP on external debt for 2004, 2003
and 2002 were $0.7 million, $0.9 million and $1.2 million, respectively. Both
allocated and unallocated ESOP shares are treated as outstanding for pur-
poses of computing earnings per share. As of January 1, 2005, the number
of ESOP shares allocated to participant accounts was 4,676,915 and the
number of unallocated shares was 6,275,890. The fair value of the unallo-
cated ESOP shares at January 1, 2005 was $307.5 million.

PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS The Company sponsors pen-
sion plans covering most domestic hourly and executive employees, and
approximately 2,900 foreign employees. Benefits are generally based on
salary and years of service, except for collective bargaining employees
whose benefits are based on a stated amount for each year of service. 

The Company recorded an $18.4 million pre-tax gain associated with the
final settlement of the U.S. salaried and non-union hourly pension obligations
in June 2002, which reflects a reduction for excise taxes and other expenses
from the $37.2 million actuarially determined settlement gain reported in the
following pension expense table. 

The Company contributes to multi-employer plans for certain collective bar-
gaining U.S. employees. In addition, various other defined contribution plans
are sponsored worldwide. 

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Multi-employer plan expense $ 0.4 $ 0.5 $ 0.5
Defined contribution 

plan expense $ 3.0 $ 4.0 $ 4.6

The components of net periodic pension expense (income) are as follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $  2.4 $  2.3 $  3.0 $  6.4 $  5.2 $  5.1

Interest cost 3.2 3.0 8.4 11.1 9.3 8.2

Expected return

on plan assets (1.0) (1.0) (15.0) (15.3) (12.2) (11.0)

Amortization of

transition asset – – (0.3) – (0.2) (0.2)

Amortization of prior

service cost 2.0 1.7 1.0 0.6 0.6 0.5

Actuarial (gain) loss 0.5 2.6 (1.1) 1.5 – (0.2)

Settlement / 

Curtailment gain – – (37.2) (0.7) – 0.2

Net periodic

pension (income)

expense $  7.1 $  8.6 $(41.2) $  3.6 $  2.7 $  2.6

(Decrease) Increase in 

minimum pension 

liability included in 

other comprehensive

income $ (1.2) $  3.3 $  2.3 $  1.3 $  0.5 $   –

The Company provides medical and dental benefits for certain retired
employees in the United States. In addition, U.S. employees who retire from
active service are eligible for life insurance benefits. Net periodic postre-
tirement benefit expense was $1.8 million in 2004, $2.0 million in 2003 and
$1.5 million in 2002.
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The Company generally uses a November 30 measurement date for its pension plans with plan assets and a December 31 measurement date for other plans.
The changes in the pension and other postretirement benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets as well as amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, are shown below:

PENSION BENEFITS OTHER BENEFITS

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans U.S. Plans

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at end of

prior year $ 52.0 $ 44.9 $ 182.7 $ 144.1 $ 17.1 $ 17.3
Service cost 2.4 2.3 6.4 5.2 0.7 1.0
Interest cost 3.2 3.0 11.1 9.3 1.0 1.0
Settlements – – – – – –
Change in discount rate 1.7 3.1 10.1 12.9 0.4 0.7
Actuarial (gain) loss – 0.2 14.4 (0.1) 0.9 1.3
Plan amendments 3.5 1.6 1.7 – – (1.5)
Foreign currency exchange rates – – 15.1 20.8 – –
Participant contributions – – 0.8 0.7 – –
Acquisitions – – 11.9 – – –
Benefits paid (2.0) (3.1) (10.3) (10.2) (1.2) (2.7)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 60.8 $ 52.0 $ 243.9 $ 182.7 $ 18.9 $ 17.1

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at 

end of prior year $ 13.3 $ 14.0 $ 153.9 $ 121.6 $ – $ –
Actual return on plan assets (0.5) 0.2 13.4 8.6 – –
Participant contributions – – 0.8 0.7 – –
Employer contribution 6.4 2.2 21.8 15.9 1.2 2.7
Foreign currency exchange

rate changes – – 12.9 17.3 – –
Acquisitions – – 8.4 – – –
Benefits paid (2.0) (3.1) (10.3) (10.2) (1.2) (2.7)

Fair value of plan assets at
end of plan year $ 17.2 $ 13.3 $ 200.9 $ 153.9 $ – $ –

Funded status-assets (less than) 
in excess of benefit obligation $ (43.6) $ (38.7) $ (43.0) $ (28.8) $ (18.9) $ (17.1)

Unrecognized prior service cost 9.0 7.5 5.2 5.3 (1.7) (1.9)
Unrecognized net actuarial 

loss (gain) 12.9 10.1 93.8 62.8 5.5 4.5
Unrecognized net 

liability at transition – – 0.6 0.3 – –

Net amount recognized $ (21.7) $ (21.1) $ 56.6 $ 39.6 $ (15.1) $ (14.5)

Amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 6.1 $ 3.9 $ 74.5 $ 53.5 $ – $ –
Accrued benefit liability (47.1) (41.0) (20.4) (14.4) (15.1) (14.5)
Intangible asset 8.4 7.5 0.7 – – –
Accumulated other 

comprehensive loss, minimum
pension liability (pretax) 10.9 8.5 1.8 0.5 – –

Net amount recognized $ (21.7) $ (21.1) $ 56.6 $ 39.6 $ (15.1) $ (14.5)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $275.9 million at January 1, 2005 and $212.0 million at January 3, 2004.
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Information regarding pension plans in which accumulated benefit obligations exceed plan assets follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2004 2003

Projected benefit obligation $ 60.8 $ 52.0 $ 62.7 $ 41.3
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 58.2 $ 50.3 $ 55.7 $ 31.6
Fair value of plan assets $ 17.2 $ 13.3 $ 38.0 $ 23.6

Information regarding pension plans in which projected benefit obligations (inclusive of anticipated future compensation increases) exceed plan assets follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2004 2003

Projected benefit obligation $ 60.8 $ 52.0 $ 243.9 $ 182.7
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 58.2 $ 50.3 $ 217.7 $ 161.7
Fair value of plan assets $ 17.2 $ 13.3 $ 200.9 $ 153.9

The major assumptions used in valuing pension and post-retirement plan obligations and net costs were as follows:

PENSION BENEFITS OTHER BENEFITS

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans U.S. Plans

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Weighted average assumptions used 
to determine benefit obligations
at year end:

Discount rate 5.75% 6.0% 5.25% 5.5% 6.0% 6.0%
Rate of compensation increase 6.0% 6.0% 3.75% 3.5% 4.0% 4.0%

Weighted average assumptions used to 
determine net periodic benefit cost:

Discount rate 6.0% 6.5% 5.5% 6.0% 6.0% 6.5%
Rate of compensation increase 6.0% 4.0% 3.5% 3.25% 4.0% 4.0%
Expected return on plan assets 8.0% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% – –

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is determined considering the returns projected for the various asset classes and the relative weighting
for each asset class as reflected in the target asset allocation below. In addition the Company considers historical performance, the opinions of outside actu-
aries and other data in developing benchmark returns.

PENSION PLAN ASSETS Plan assets are invested in equity securities, bonds and other fixed income securities, real estate, money market instruments
and insurance contracts. The Company’s weighted-average worldwide actual asset allocations at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 by asset category are
as follows:

Plan Assets Target

Asset Category 2004 2003 Allocation

Equity securities 60% 59% 50-70%
Fixed income securities 32% 39% 30-50%
Real estate 0% 0% 0-5%
Other 8% 2% 0-10%

Total 100% 100% 100%
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Certain employees are covered under legacy benefit provisions that include
prescription drug coverage for Medicare-eligible retirees. In order to coordinate
this coverage with the Modernization Act, the Company plans to complete
a strategic review of its postretirement plans during the two year transition-
al period provided in the Modernization Act. In accordance with FASB Staff
Position FAS 106-1, the benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost do not
reflect any potential effects of the Modernization Act. Since the Company has
already taken steps to limit its postretirement medical benefits, any reductions
in postretirement benefit costs resulting from the Modernization Act are not
expected to be material.

N.  O T H E R  C O S T S  A N D  E X P E N S E S

Other-net is primarily comprised of intangibles amortization expense, gains
and losses on asset dispositions, currency impact, environmental expense,
results from unconsolidated entities, and net expenses related to the Mac
Tools extended financing programs, mainly financing receivable losses and
interest income. Other-net in 2003 includes $9.5 million in charges related to
the exit of the Mac Tools retail channel. Other-net in 2002 includes a nonre-
curring pension settlement gain of $18.4 million and $11.3 million in income
from an environmental settlement with an insurance carrier. 

Research and development costs were $13.4 million, $8.8 million and $9.8
million for the fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

O.  R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A N D  

A S S E T  I M PA I R M E N T S

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recorded $7.7 million of restruc-
turing and asset impairment charges — $4.0 million of restructuring costs in
connection with specific personnel actions to streamline/reposition certain
organizations primarily in the Consumer Products and Industrial Tools seg-
ments; and $3.7 million of impairment charges primarily associated with a
2004 information system strategy decision. 

In 2003, the Company recorded $49.1 million in restructuring and asset
impairment charges for the Operation 15 initiative. These charges consisted
of $12.2 million for severance, $26.3 million of asset impairments and $10.6
million of other exit costs related to the exit from the Company’s MacDirect
retail channel. The asset impairments generally relate to assets which are
idle mainly as a result of restructuring initiatives and accordingly their book
value has been written down to fair value. 

The Company’s investment strategy for pension plan assets includes diversi-
fication to minimize interest and market risks, and generally does not involve
the use of derivative financial instruments. Plan assets are rebalanced peri-
odically to maintain target asset allocations. Maturities of investments are
not necessarily related to the timing of expected future benefit payments, but
adequate liquidity to make immediate and medium term benefit payments is
ensured.

CONTRIBUTIONS The Company’s funding policy for its defined benefit
plans is to contribute amounts determined annually on an actuarial basis to
provide for current and future benefits in accordance with federal law and
other regulations. The Company expects to contribute approximately $9 mil-
lion to its pension plans and $2 million to its other postretirement benefit
plan in 2005.

EXPECTED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS Benefit payments, inclu-
sive of amounts attributable to estimated future employee service, are
expected to be paid as follows over the next 10 years:

(Millions of Dollars) Total Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Years 6 - 10

Future payments $ 169.8 $ 13.2 $ 15.1 $ 15.2 $ 15.5 $ 16.5 $ 94.3 

These benefit payments will be funded through a combination of existing
plan assets and amounts to be contributed in the future by the Company.

HEALTH CARE COST TRENDS AND MEDICARE PRESCRIPTION
ACT OF 2003 IMPACT The weighted average annual assumed rate of
increase in the per-capita cost of covered benefits (i.e., health care cost
trend rate) is assumed to be 9.5% for 2004, reducing gradually to 6.00% by
2012 and remaining at that level thereafter. A one percentage point change
in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have the following effects
as of January 1, 2005:

1% Point 1% Point
(Millions of Dollars) Increase Decrease

Effect on the net periodic
postretirement benefit cost $ 0.1 $ (0.1)

Effect on the postretirement
benefit obligation $ 0.6 $ (0.6)

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 (the Modernization Act) was signed into law.
The Modernization Act introduced a plan sponsor subsidy based on a per-
centage of a beneficiary’s annual prescription drug benefits, within defined
limits, and the opportunity for a retiree to obtain prescription drug benefits
under Medicare.



2004 ANNUAL REPORT

69

Integration of certain acquisitions requires reduction of redundant person-
nel, closure of facilities, and other restructuring actions related to the
acquired businesses. In such cases, a restructuring accrual is recorded for
actions identified in integration strategy plans initially developed by the
Company as of the acquisition date, with a resulting increase to goodwill. As
integration strategies are executed, the Company monitors the previously
established restructuring accruals and makes adjustments to such accruals
to the extent actual expenditures differ from the estimated accruals.
Adjustments recorded to previously established restructuring accruals until
the time integration plans are fully executed, not to exceed one year from
date of original acquisition, are reflected in the final goodwill amount
included in the purchase price allocation. Adjustments made subsequent to
the finalization of integration strategies, or after one year from the date of
original acquisition, are reflected in the Company’s results of operations.
The Company recorded $4.7 million in restructuring reserves, primarily for
severance, in connection with its first quarter 2004 acquisitions.
Restructuring reserves pertaining to the 2002 Best acquisition were $6.4
million, comprised of $5.3 million for severance and $1.1 million in exit costs
primarily for non-cancelable leases. All but $0.3 million of these acquisition
related reserves were expended by January 1, 2005. 

P.  B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T S  A N D  

G E O G R A P H I C  A R E A S

The Company reports the following three segments: Consumer Products,
Industrial Tools and Security Solutions. The Consumer Products segment
includes hand tools, consumer mechanics tools and storage units, and
hardware. Industrial Tools is comprised of Mac Tools, Proto mechanic
tools, pneumatic tools, storage systems, specialty tools, assembly tech-
nologies, hydraulic tools and CST/Berger (measuring tools). The Security
Solutions segment includes access technologies, Best Access, Blick and
Frisco Bay; these businesses manufacture and install automatic doors, and
related hardware and products, as well as mechanical and electronic lock
sets and access controls. The Company’s reportable segments are an
aggregation of businesses that have similar products and services, among
other factors. The following information excludes the Residential Entry
Door, Home Décor and German paint roller businesses, which are classi-
fied as discontinued operations as disclosed in Note T Discontinued
Operations, unless otherwise noted.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company recorded $3.1 million in restructuring
charges for initiatives pertaining to the further reduction of its cost structure,
primarily for severance-related obligations. As of January 3, 2004, no accrual
remained as all of the severance had been expended.

At January 1, 2005, the restructuring and asset impairment reserve balance
was $5.3 million, which the Company expects to be fully expended by the
end of 2005. A summary of the Company’s restructuring reserve activity for
2004 follows:

(Millions of Dollars)

Initiatives 2003 Charges Usage 2004

Q4 2004
Severance $ – $ 4.0 $ (2.8) $ 1.2
Asset impairments – 3.7 (3.7) – 

Operation 15
Severance 3.1 – (1.1) 2.0
Asset Impairments 8.7 – (6.6) 2.1
Other 2.8 – (2.8) – 

Pre 2003
Other 1.5 – (1.5) – 

Total $ 16.1 $ 7.7 $ (18.5) $ 5.3 

Restructuring and asset impairment charges by segment were as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Consumer Products $ 1.3 $ 15.2
Industrial Tools 2.9 35.7
Security Solutions 3.5 1.3

Consolidated $ 7.7 $ 52.2

For the three years ended January 1, 2005, 21 facilities have been closed as
a result of restructuring initiatives. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, approximately
160, 1,100 and 1,000 employees have been terminated as a result of restruc-
turing initiatives, respectively. Severance payments of $3.7 million, $17.9
million and $26.0 million and other exit payments of $4.3 million, $9.6 million
and $4.4 million were made in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Write-offs
of impaired assets were $10.5 million, $18.3 million and $5.8 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net Sales
Consumer Products $ 1,073.1 $ 958.2 $ 911.4
Industrial Tools 1,292.5 1,098.3 1,111.1
Security Solutions 677.8 474.1 211.9

Consolidated $ 3,043.4 $ 2,530.6 $ 2,234.4

Operating Profit 
Consumer Products $ 175.4 $ 149.4 $ 130.3
Industrial Tools 131.9 17.0 69.4
Security Solutions 110.7 75.7 43.0

Total $ 418.0 $ 242.1 $ 242.7

Restructuring charges and 
asset impairments (7.7) (52.2) –

Interest income 4.2 6.2 4.0
Interest expense (38.6) (34.1) (28.1)
Other-net (46.8) (39.4) 8.7

Earnings from
continuing operations
before income taxes $ 329.1 $ 122.6 $ 227.3

Segment Assets
Consumer Products $ 641.6 $ 717.4 $ 767.7
Industrial Tools 902.0 816.9 913.3
Security Solutions 963.3 554.8 477.4

2,506.9 2,089.1 2,158.4
Discontinued operations 81.7 105.2 115.7
Corporate assets 262.0 229.5 144.1

Consolidated $ 2,850.6 $ 2,423.8 $ 2,418.2

Capital and 
Software Expenditures

Consumer Products $ 22.3 $ 14.4 $ 19.3
Industrial Tools 18.4 16.3 25.0
Security Solutions 10.6 5.8 2.0
Discontinued operations 3.5 2.9 6.0

Consolidated $ 54.8 $ 39.4 $ 52.3

Depreciation and  
Amortization
Consumer Products $ 31.1 $ 31.5 $ 31.2
Industrial Tools 33.3 32.6 32.6
Security Solutions 28.1 17.7 3.3
Discontinued operations 2.5 4.7 4.1

Consolidated $ 95.0 $ 86.5 $ 71.2

The Company assesses the performance of its reportable business segments
using operating profit, which follows the same accounting policies as those
described in Note A Significant Accounting Policies. Operating profit
excludes interest income, interest expense, other-net, and income tax
expense. In addition, operating profit excludes restructuring charges and
asset impairments. Corporate and shared expenses are allocated to each
segment. Transactions between segments are not material. Segment assets
primarily include accounts receivable, inventory, other current assets, prop-
erty, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other miscellaneous assets.
Corporate assets and unallocated assets are cash, deferred income taxes
and certain other assets. Geographic net sales and long-lived assets are
attributed to the geographic regions based on the geographic location of
each Company subsidiary.

Sales to The Home Depot were approximately 12%, 13% and 14% of con-
solidated net sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, excluding the
discontinued operations businesses discussed in Note T Discontinued
Operations. Inclusive of the Residential Entry Door, Home Décor, and
German paint roller business discontinued operations, sales to The Home
Depot represented 13%, 19%, and 21% of consolidated net sales in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. For 2004, 2003 and 2002 net sales to this one
customer amounted to 25%, 36% and 36% of segment net sales, respec-
tively, for the Consumer Products segment, 7%, 6% and 6%, respectively,
for the Industrial Tools segment and 3%, 4% and 8%, respectively, for the
Security Solutions segment.

GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net Sales
United States $ 2,070.0 $ 1,826.3 $ 1,619.9
Other Americas 217.6 184.5 168.6
Europe 592.7 401.6 352.0
Asia 163.1 118.2 93.9

Consolidated $ 3,043.4 $ 2,530.6 $ 2,234.4

Long-Lived Assets
United States $ 938.3 $ 923.0 $ 961.8
Other Americas 82.0 29.0 28.0
United Kingdom 290.2 87.2 66.6
Other Europe 103.0 88.4 78.3
Asia 61.8 60.1 39.1

Consolidated $ 1,475.3 $ 1,187.7 $ 1,173.8
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Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to continuing operations consisted
of the following:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Current:
Federal $ 33.3 $ (12.6) $ 89.9
Foreign 26.7 21.5 5.5
State 3.9 3.8 9.3

Total current 63.9 12.7 104.7

Deferred:
Federal 20.3 15.9 (36.0) 
Foreign 1.6 3.3 1.4
State 3.1 (0.2) –

Total deferred 25.0 19.0 (34.6)

Total $ 88.9 $ 31.7 $ 70.1

Income taxes paid during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $125.4 million, $11.2
million (net of a $22.1 million U.S. Federal refund) and $120.0 million, respec-
tively. During 2004, the Company had tax holidays with China and Thailand.
Tax holidays resulted in a $3.0 million reduction in tax expense in 2004, $2.5
million in 2003, and $2.2 million in 2002. The tax holiday in China was in place
through 2004 and the tax holiday in Thailand is in place until 2010.

The reconciliation of federal income tax at the statutory federal rate to
income tax at the effective rate for continuing operations is as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Tax at statutory rate $ 115.2 $ 41.7 $ 78.6
State income taxes, 

net of federal benefits 4.9 2.4 5.9
Difference between foreign 

and federal income tax (24.5) (15.4) (14.0)
Foreign Sales Corporation 

or Extraterritorial 
Income Exclusion (2.5) (2.9) (2.7)

Branch activity 0.4 2.5 0.6
Tax accrual reserve (0.2) 0.9 (5.6)
Non-deductible excise tax – – 5.9
Other-net (4.4) 2.5 1.4

Income taxes $ 88.9 $ 31.7 $ 70.1

The components of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
consisted of the following:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 182.3 $ 11.7 $ 154.4
Foreign 146.8 110.9 72.9
Total pre-tax earnings $ 329.1 $ 122.6 $ 227.3

Q.  I N C O M E  TA X E S  

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities
as of the end of each fiscal year were as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation $ 68.1 $ 88.3
Amortization of Intangibles 45.9 33.1
Other 20.5 20.7

Total deferred tax liabilities 134.5 142.1

Deferred tax assets:
Employee benefit plans 34.9 41.9
Doubtful accounts 8.5 14.9
Inventories 2.1 8.1
Accruals 9.8 8.4
Restructuring charges – 9.1
Foreign and state operating 

loss carryforwards 36.7 33.1
Other 0.5 1.6

Total deferred tax assets $ 92.5 $ 117.1

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities
before Valuation Allowance $ 42.0 $ 25.0

Valuation allowance 36.7 33.1

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities
after Valuation Allowance $ 78.7 $ 58.1

Valuation allowances reduced the deferred tax asset attributable to foreign
and state loss carryforwards to the amount that, based upon all available
evidence, is more likely than not to be realized. Reversal of the valuation
allowance is contingent upon the recognition of future taxable income and
capital gains in specific foreign countries and specific states, or changes in
circumstances which cause the recognition of the benefits to become more
likely than not. The foreign and state loss carryforwards expire in various
years beginning in 2005. 

The classification of deferred taxes as of January 1, 2005 and January 3,
2004 is as follows:

2004 2003

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
(Millions of Dollars) Tax Asset Tax Liability Tax Asset Tax Liability

Current $ (7.9) $ – $ (24.8) $ 1.2
Non-current (47.9) 134.5 (59.2) 140.9
Total $ (55.8) $ 134.5 $ (84.0) $ 142.1
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The Company’s future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by
earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where the statutory rates
are lower. The Company is subject to the examination of its income tax
returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. The
Company evaluates the likelihood of unfavorable adjustments arising from
the examinations and believes adequate provisions have been made in the
income tax provision. 

Undistributed foreign earnings of $324.1 million at January 1, 2005 are con-
sidered to be invested indefinitely or will be remitted substantially free of
additional tax. Accordingly, no provision has been made for taxes that might
be payable upon remittance of such earnings, nor is it practicable to deter-
mine the amount of this liability.

In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) was
signed into law. The Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations
to repatriate foreign earnings by providing an 85 percent dividends received
deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations. The
deduction is subject to a number of limitations and, at present significant
uncertainty remains with respect to interpretation of numerous provisions in
the Act. As such, the Company is not yet in a position to decide on whether,
and to what extent, it might repatriate foreign earnings. It is reasonably
possible the Company may repatriate some amount between $0 and $324.1
million, with the related tax liability ranging from $0 to $42 million. The
amount of additional tax expense accrued would be reduced if some part of
the eligible dividend was attributable to foreign earnings on which a
deferred tax liability has been previously accrued. The Company is awaiting
the issuance of further regulatory guidance and passage of statutory technical
corrections with respect to certain provisions in the Act prior to determining
the amounts, if any, it will repatriate and expects to be in a position to finalize
its assessment during 2005. 

R .  C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D  G UA R A N T E E S

COMMITMENTS The Company has noncancelable operating lease agree-
ments, principally related to facilities, vehicles, machinery and equipment.
Minimum payments have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of
$7.1 million due in the future under noncancelable subleases. In addition,
the Company is a party to synthetic leasing programs which qualify as oper-
ating leases, for two of its major distribution centers. Rental expense, net of
sublease income, for operating leases was $38.7 million in 2004, $43.0 mil-
lion in 2003 and $33.8 million in 2002.

Outsourcing and other commitments are comprised of: $20.6 million for out-
sourcing arrangements, primarily related to information systems and
telecommunications; $9.4 million in marketing obligations; and $3.6 million
of cash funding commitments pertaining to the Company’s U.S. ESOP. 

The following table includes the future commitments for lease obligations,
outsourcing and other arrangements.

(Millions of Dollars) Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter

Operating 

lease obligations $ 96.6 $ 21.8 $ 18.3 $ 13.9 $ 10.8 $ 7.4 $ 24.4

Material purchase
commitments 54.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0

Outsourcing and

other 33.6 14.9 10.2 5.9 2.6 – –

Total $ 184.2 $ 45.7 $ 37.5 $ 28.8 $ 22.4 $ 16.4 $ 33.4 

The Company has numerous assets, predominantly vehicles and equipment,
under a one-year term renewable U.S. master personal property lease.
Residual value obligations under this master lease were $23.5 million at
January 1, 2005 while the fair value of the underlying assets was approxi-
mately $27 million. The U.S. master personal property lease obligations are
not reflected in the future minimum lease payments since the initial and
remaining term does not exceed one year. The Company routinely exercises
various lease renewal options and from time to time purchases leased
assets for fair value at the end of lease terms.

The Company is a party to synthetic leasing programs for two of its major dis-
tribution centers. The programs qualify as operating leases for accounting
purposes, where only the monthly lease cost is recorded in earnings and the
liability and value of underlying assets are off-balance sheet. As of January
1, 2005, the estimated fair value of assets and remaining obligations for
these two properties were $50.2 million and $42.0 million, respectively.

GUARANTEES
Maximum Carrying
Potential Amount of

(Millions of Dollars) Term Payment Liability

Financial guarantees:
Guarantees on the residual 

values of leased properties Up to 6 years $ 65.5 $ –
Standby letters of credit Generally 1 year 26.5 4.2
Guarantee on the 

external Employee Stock
Ownership Plan borrowings Through 2009 8.6 8.6

Commercial customer 
financing arrangements Up to 5 years 1.2 –

Government guarantees 
on employees 3 years from hire date 0.1 –

Guarantee on active 
facility lease Through 2012 0.6 –

Guarantees on leases 
for divested business 
which are subleased Up to 30 months 0.4 0.1

Balance January 1, 2005 $ 102.9 $ 12.9
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The Company has guaranteed the residual value arising from its previously
mentioned synthetic lease and U.S. master personal property lease programs.
The lease guarantees aggregate $65.5 million while the fair value of the
underlying assets is estimated at $77.2 million. The related assets would be
available to satisfy the guarantee obligations and therefore it is unlikely the
Company will incur any future loss associated with these lease guarantees.
The Company has issued $26.5 million in standby letters of credit that
guarantee future payments which may be required under certain insurance
programs. Shares of the Company’s common stock held by the ESOP were
purchased with the proceeds of external borrowings in the 1980’s and 
borrowings from the Company in 1991. The external ESOP borrowings are
guaranteed by the Company and are included in long-term debt. Shareowners’
equity reflects a reduction for the internal and external borrowings.

The Company has sold various businesses and properties over many years
and provided standard indemnification to the purchasers with respect to
any unknown liabilities, such as environmental, which may arise in the
future that are attributable to the time of the Company’s ownership. No lia-
bilities have been recorded for these general indemnifications since there
are no identified exposures.

The Company provides product and service warranties which vary across its
businesses. The types of warranties offered generally range from one year
to limited lifetime, while certain products carry no warranty. Further, the
Company incurs discretionary costs to service its products in connection with
product performance issues. Historical warranty and service claim experi-
ence forms the basis for warranty obligations recognized. Adjustments are
recorded to the warranty liability as new information becomes available.

The changes in the carrying amount of product and service warranties for the
years ended January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 are as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003

Beginning Balance $ 7.3 $ 5.7
Warranties and guarantees issued 13.2 13.7
Warranty payments (12.3) (12.2)
Acquisitions and other 6.6 0.1

Ending Balance $ 14.8 $ 7.3

S .  C O N T I N G E N C I E S  

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings relating to environ-
mental issues, employment, product liability and workers’ compensation
claims and other matters. The Company periodically reviews the status of
these proceedings with both inside and outside counsel, as well as an actuary
for risk insurance. Management believes that the ultimate disposition of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on operations or financial
condition taken as a whole.

The Company recognizes liabilities for contingent exposures when analysis
indicates it is both probable that an asset has been impaired or that a liabil-
ity has been incurred and the amount of impairment or loss can reasonably
be estimated. When a range of probable loss can be estimated, the
Company accrues the most likely amount. In the event that no amount in the
range of probable loss is considered most likely, the minimum loss in the
range is accrued. 

In the normal course of business, the Company is involved in various lawsuits
and claims. In addition, the Company is a party to a number of proceedings
before federal and state regulatory agencies relating to environmental reme-
diation. Also, the Company, along with many other companies, has been
named as a potentially responsible party (PRP) in a number of administrative
proceedings for the remediation of various waste sites, including 10 active
Superfund sites. Current laws potentially impose joint and several liability
upon each PRP. In assessing its potential liability at these sites, the Company
has considered the following: the solvency of the other PRPs, whether
responsibility is being disputed, the terms of existing agreements, experi-
ence at similar sites, and the fact that the Company’s volumetric contribution
at these sites is relatively small.

The Company’s policy is to accrue environmental investigatory and remedia-
tion costs for identified sites when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The amount
of liability recorded is based on an evaluation of currently available facts
with respect to each individual site and includes such factors as existing
technology, presently enacted laws and regulations, and prior experience in
remediation of contaminated sites. The liabilities recorded do not take into
account any claims for recoveries from insurance or third parties. As assess-
ments and remediation progress at individual sites, the amounts recorded
are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect additional technical and
legal information that becomes available. As of January 1, 2005 and January
3, 2004, the Company had reserves of $13.6 million and $11.5 million,
respectively, primarily for remediation activities associated with Company-
owned properties as well as for Superfund sites, for losses that are probable
and estimable. Of this amount, $3.7 million is classified as current and $9.9
million as long-term. The range of environmental remediation costs that is
reasonably possible is $13.6 million to $34.7 million which is subject to
change in the near term. The Company may be liable for environmental
remediation of sites it no longer owns. Liabilities have been recorded on
those sites in accordance with policy.

The environmental liability for certain sites that have cash payments that are
fixed or reliably determinable have been discounted using a rate in the range
of 4.3% to 5.4%, depending on the timing of cash payments. The discounted
and undiscounted amount of the liability relative to these sites is $5.1 million
and $8.2 million, respectively, as of January 1, 2005 and $6.4 million and $8.4
million, respectively, as of January 3, 2004. The payments relative to these
sites are expected to be $0.9 million in 2005, $1.7 million in 2006, $1.0 million
in 2007, $0.3 million in 2008, $0.3 million in 2009 and $4.0 million thereafter.
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The amount recorded for identified contingent liabilities is based on esti-
mates. Amounts recorded are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect
additional technical and legal information that becomes available. Actual
costs to be incurred in future periods may vary from the estimates, given the
inherent uncertainties in evaluating certain exposures. Subject to the impre-
cision in estimating future contingent liability costs, the Company does not
expect that any sum it may have to pay in connection with these matters in
excess of the amounts recorded will have a materially adverse effect on its
financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

As previously disclosed in the 2002 Annual Report, the Company’s audited
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 28, 2002
include $5.6 million, or 4¢ per fully diluted share, of accounting corrections
related primarily to expense capitalization and depreciation in fiscal years
1999 through 2002. During the fourth quarter of 2003 the Securities and
Exchange Commission issued a formal order of private investigation in
connection with allegations regarding certain accounting matters. These
allegations, which had previously been raised with the Company anony-
mously, were initially researched and evaluated by the Company’s
management, internal audit staff and independent auditors, and subse-
quently, further investigated by a second multinational accounting firm, all
under the supervision of the audit committee of the Board of Directors. This
resulted in the accounting corrections referred to above. The Company has
cooperated fully with the SEC throughout the investigation. Management,
the Board of Directors and the Company’s independent auditors concluded
that such corrections were immaterial, both quantitatively and qualitatively,
to the December 28, 2002 audited Consolidated Financial Statements and
immaterial to the previously reported results of the prior years and quarters
to which they relate.

T.  D I S C O N T I N U E D  O P E R AT I O N S

On October 15, 2004, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to
sell its Home Décor business to Wellspring Capital Management LLC, a
New York-based private equity investment firm. The $87 million cash sale
transaction closed on December 4, 2004 and resulted in an after-tax gain of
$24 million. 

In a definitive agreement effective December 31, 2004, the Company sold
Friess, its German paint roller business, to Nespoli Groupe SpA for $6.4 mil-
lion, and an unfavorable loss of $3.6 million was recognized thereon.

On December 8, 2003, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to
sell its Residential Entry Door business to Masonite International
Corporation. The $161 million cash sale transaction closed on March 2, 2004
and resulted in an after-tax gain of $95 million. 

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the results of operations of
the Home Décor, Friess and Residential Entry Door businesses for the current
and prior periods have been reported as discontinued operations. In addition
the assets and liabilities of the Home Décor, Friess and Residential Entry
Door businesses have been reclassified as held for sale in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at January 3, 2004. The divestures of these businesses were
made pursuant to the Company’s growth strategy which entails a reduction
of risk associated with certain large customer concentrations.

The Home Décor business supplied mirrored closet doors, closet organiza-
tion products and wall décor products primarily through large retailers in
North America and Europe. The Friess business manufactured paint rollers in
Germany and sold them into the private label market in continental Europe.
The Residential Entry Door business manufactured and distributed steel and
fiberglass entry doors and components throughout North America. Operating
results of the Home Décor, Friess and Residential Entry Door businesses,
which were formerly included in the Consumer Products segment, are sum-
marized as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 180.4 $ 329.8 $ 358.7
Pretax earnings 16.3 28.2 45.3
Income taxes 5.2 11.2 17.5

Net earnings from
discontinued operations $ 11.1 $ 17.0 $ 27.8

The Home Décor, Friess and the Residential Entry Door businesses sales to
The Home Depot amounted to 28% of their net sales in 2004 and 63% in
2003 and 67% in 2002. 

Assets and liabilities of the Home Décor, Friess and Residential Entry Door
businesses as of January 3, 2004 are as follows:

(Millions of Dollars) 2003

Accounts receivable $ 25.3
Inventories 22.4
Other assets 3.3
Property, plant and equipment 40.1
Goodwill 14.1

Total assets 105.2

Accounts payable 41.0
Accrued expenses 16.8
Other liabilities 4.7

Total liabilities $ 62.5

Goodwill disposed of in these 2004 divestitures amounted to $14.1 million.
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2004** First Second Third Fourth

Net sales $ 734.8 $ 753.9 $ 751.8 $ 802.9 $ 3,043.4
Gross profit 267.9 273.1 277.8 293.5 1,112.3
Selling, general and administrative expenses 166.7 171.3 173.2 183.1 694.3
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 55.0 $ 58.8 $ 61.2 $ 65.2 $ 240.2
Net earnings from discontinued operations 98.5 2.6 2.7 22.9 126.7

Net earnings $ 153.5 $ 61.4 $ 63.9 $ 88.1 $ 366.9 

Basic earnings per common share: 
Continuing operations $ 0.67 $ 0.72 $ 0.74 $ 0.79 $ 2.93
Discontinued operations 1.21 0.03 0.03 0.28 1.54

Total basic earnings per common share $ 1.88 $ 0.75 $ 0.78 $ 1.07 $ 4.47

Diluted earnings per common share: 
Continuing operations $ 0.66 $ 0.70 $ 0.73 $ 0.77 $ 2.85
Discontinued operations 1.18 0.03 0.03 0.27 1.50

Total diluted earnings per common share $ 1.84 $ 0.73 $ 0.76 $ 1.04 $ 4.36

2003** First Second Third Fourth Year

Net sales $ 594.1 $ 617.1 $ 631.1 $ 688.3 $ 2,530.6
Gross profit 204.4 211.6 219.7 221.9 857.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses 162.0 163.4 138.3 151.8 615.5
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 17.6 $ 8.0 $ 36.4 $ 28.9 $ 90.9
Net earnings from discontinued operations 1.6 4.4 5.3 5.7 17.0

Net earnings $ 19.2 $ 12.4 $ 41.7 $ 34.6 $ 107.9 

Basic earnings per common share: 
Continuing operations $ 0.20 $ 0.09 $ 0.45 $ 0.35 $ 1.08
Discontinued operations 0.02 0.05 0.07 0.07 0.20

Total basic earnings per common share $ 0.22 $ 0.14 $ 0.51 $ 0.42 $ 1.28

Diluted earnings per common share: 
Continuing operations $ 0.20 $ 0.09 $ 0.44 $ 0.35 $ 1.07
Discontinued operations 0.02 0.05 0.06 0.07 0.20

Total diluted earnings per common share $ 0.22 $ 0.14 $ 0.51 $ 0.42 $ 1.27

**Changes in previously reported Net sales, Gross profit and Selling, general and administrative expenses are due to the reclassification of amounts related to the discon-
tinued operations of the Residential Entry Door, Home Décor and Friess businesses as described in Note T Discontinued Operations of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(Millions of Dollars, except per share amounts) Quarter Year
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COMMON STOCK The Stanley Works common stock is listed on the
New York and Pacific Stock Exchanges under the abbreviated ticker
symbol “SWK”; and is a component of the S&P 500 Composite Stock
Price Index.

COMMON STOCK (DOLLARS PER SHARE)

Price Dividends

2004 2003 2004 2003
High Low High Low

First Quarter 43.75 36.42 36.08 23.40 $.26 $.255
Second Quarter 46.08 39.50 29.20 20.84 .26 .255
Third Quarter 45.90 40.17 31.02 27.15 .28 .26
Fourth Quarter 49.33 40.69 38.03 29.11 .28 .26

$1.08 $1.03

DIVIDENDS The Stanley Works has an impressive and truly unique
dividend record over the long haul:

> Our record of annual dividend payments is unmatched by any
industrial company listed on the New York Stock Exchange – 128
consecutive years.

> Our quarterly dividend record is the longest of any industrial
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange – 439 consec-
utive quarters.

> We have increased dividends in each of the past 37 years, and
in that same period, an investment in Stanley stock grew at a
compound annual rate of 12%.

DIVIDEND PER SHARE IN DOLLARS

INVESTOR AND SHAREOWNER INFORMATION

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR All shareowner inquiries,
including transfer-related matters, should be directed to:
Computershare Investor Services LLC, 2 North LaSalle Street, Chicago,
Illinois 60602 – (888) 660-5513. http://www.computershare.com.

CORPORATE OFFICES The Company’s principal corporate offices are
located at: 1000 Stanley Drive, New Britain, CT 06053  (860) 225-5111

ANNUAL MEETING The annual meeting of The Stanley Works will
be held at 9:30 a.m. Eastern Time on Wednesday, April 27, 2005, at
the Stanley Center For Learning And Innovation, 1000 Stanley Drive,
New Britain, CT. A formal notice of the meeting together with a proxy
statement has been mailed to shareowners with this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS Ernst & Young LLP, 225 Asylum Street,
Hartford, Connecticut 06103

FINANCIAL & INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS The Stanley
Works investor relations department provides information to share-
owners and the financial community. We encourage inquiries and
will provide services which include:

> Fulfilling requests for annual reports, proxy statements, forms 10-Q
and 10-K, copies of press releases and other company information.

> Meetings with securities analysts and fund managers.

Contact The Stanley Works investor relations department at our cor-
porate offices by calling Gerard J. Gould, Vice President, Investor
Relations at (860) 827-3833. We make quarterly news releases
available on-line on the Internet on the day that results are released
to the news media. The Stanley Works releases and a variety of
shareowner information can be found at the Company’s website:
www.stanleyworks.com. Stanley shareowners are also able to call
toll-free (888) 660-5513 to request a copy of the most recent quar-
terly earnings release.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN AND STOCK PURCHASE

PROGRAM Shareowners may invest funds, have dividends auto-
matically reinvested in Stanley common stock and/or make optional
cash payments to increase their common stock investment. Inquiries
regarding this service should be directed to the Company’s transfer
agent, Computershare Investor Services LLC at (888) 660-5513. 1979 2004

$.22

$1.08 per share



(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2004 2003 CHANGE

Net sales from continuing operations $ 3,043 $ 2,531 20%
Operating income from continuing operations $ 418 $ 242 73%

Percent of sales from continuing operations 13.7% 9.6% 410bp
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 240 $ 91 164%

Per share from continuing operations $ 2.85 $ 1.07 166%
Net earnings $ 367 $ 108 240%

Per share $ 4.36 $ 1.27 243%
Return on capital employed from continuing operations 15.1% 6.9% 820bp

Dividends per share $ 1.08 $ 1.03 5%

Closing market price per share $ 48.99 $ 37.05 32%
Total return (SHARE PRICE CHANGE PLUS DIVIDENDS) 35% 11%

THE STANLEY WORKS, AN S&P 500 COMPANY, IS A WORLDWIDE
SUPPLIER OF TOOLS, HARDWARE AND SECURITY SOLUTIONS FOR

PROFESSIONAL, INDUSTRIAL AND CONSUMER USE.

ON THE COVER Juliette Blanchard, one of 400 students at Lycee du Bois in the
town of Mouchard in France, utilizes a Stanley® laser leveling tool in the con-
struction of a new field house for athletics. The expansion of its laser leveling
offering into Europe was a key 2004 Stanley success. 

PAGE DE COUVERTURE Juliette Blanchard, une des 400 élèves du Lycée du
Bois de Mouchard en France, utilise un niveau laser Stanley® pour la construc-
tion d’un nouveau complexe sportif. Stanley a connu un succès majeur en 2004
en étendant son offre de niveaux laser en Europe.
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F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S

STANLEY:  AT A GLANCE

2003 GAAP RECONCILIATION

Net Earnings from Continuing Operations $ 91
Significant charges and credits 81
Pro forma Net Earnings from Continuing Operations1

(excluding significant charges and credits) $ 172
1 Management believes this supplemental financial measure (2003 Net Earnings from Continuing
Operations excluding restructuring charges and asset impairments, and other exit costs) provides
useful information by removing the effect of variances in reported results that were not indica-
tive of fundamental changes in the company’s earnings capacity. For further discussion, refer to
the Significant Charges and Credits section on pages 36-37 within Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

1 Member of the Executive Committee   2 Member of the Audit Committee   3 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee   4 Member of the Finance and Pension Committee   5 Member of the Compensation and Organization Committee

From left to right: John G. Breen, Kathryn D. Wriston, Emmanuel A. Kampouris, John F. Lundgren, Stillman B. Brown, Virgis W. Colbert, Eileen S. Kraus

JOHN G. BREEN 1, 2, 4

Retired; former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
The Sherwin Williams Company

STILLMAN B. BROWN 1, 2, 4

Managing General Partner 
Harcott Associates Investments  

VIRGIS W. COLBERT 1, 3, 5

Executive Vice President 
Miller Brewing Company

EMMANUEL A. KAMPOURIS 3, 5

Retired, former Chairman, 
President and Chief Executive Officer
American Standard Companies, Inc.

EILEEN S. KRAUS 1, 2, 3

Retired, former Chairman, 
Connecticut Fleet National Bank

JOHN F. LUNDGREN 1

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
The Stanley Works

KATHRYN D. WRISTON 4, 5

Director of various organizations

BRUCE H. BEATT
Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
(2000)

WILLIAM D. HILL
Vice President, Engineering & Technology  
(1997)

HUBERT W. DAVIS, JR.
Vice President, CIO  
(2000)

JOHN H. GARLOCK, JR.
Vice President & President, Stanley Fastening Systems
(2000)

PAUL M. ISABELLA
Senior Vice President, Global Operations  
(1999)

JAMES M. LOREE
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
(1999)

JOHN F. LUNDGREN
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
(2004)

MARK J. MATHIEU
Vice President, Human Resources
(1997)

DONALD R. MCILNAY
Senior Vice President and President, Tools Group 
(1999)
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The Stanley Works World Headquarters: 1000 Stanley Drive, New Britain, Connecticut 06053
www.stanleyworks.com
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A LEGACY OF QUALITY. A FUTURE OF GROWTH.
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